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Profile
Harsco Corporation (NYSE: HSC) is a diversified
provider of industrial services and products to 
major customers in strategic worldwide industries,
including steel, gas and energy, and infrastructure
development. Harsco’s operations are organized in
three core business segments: Mill Services, Gas and
Fluid Control, and Infrastructure.

Mission
The Mission of Harsco Corporation is to achieve
consistent, superior financial returns from operations
complemented by targeted and prudent growth in
markets and technologies familiar to the Company.
Enhanced stockholder value will be obtained by
developing and maintaining lead industry positions 
in the markets served through the delivery of
products and services that provide the best value 
to the customer.

Operations
Harsco employs approximately 15,700 people at
more than 300 service, manufacturing, sales, and
distribution locations in 32 countries. 
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Comparative Highlights

(All dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 1999 1998

Operating Information
Net Sales $1,716,688 $ 1,733,458

Net Income 90,713 107,513

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses 207,765 213,438

Earnings Before Interest, Income Taxes, Minority 

Interest, Depreciation and Amortization (1) 305,589 323,282

Effective Income Tax Rate 35.0% 37.5%

Financial Position
Working Capital $ 182,439 $ 112,619

Current Ratio 1.4:1 1.2:1

Total Assets 1,659,823 1,623,581

Shareholders’ Equity 650,121 685,299

Total Debt to Total Capital 41.2% 34.7%

Per Share Information
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 2.21 $ 2.34

Book Value Per Share 16.22 16.22

Cash Dividends Declared Per Share .91 .885

Other Information
Diluted Average Shares Outstanding 41,017,067 45,910,531

Capital Expenditures $ 175,248 $ 159,816

Return on Average Capital 10.0% 11.5%

Return on Average Equity 13.9% 14.3%

Return on Average Assets 10.7% 12.9%

(1) Earnings before interest, income taxes, minority interest, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) is not a measure of performance under
generally accepted accounting principles, however, the Company and the investment community consider it an important calculation.
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Mill Services
Group

Gas & Fluid
Control Group

Infrastructure
Group

The Harsco Mill Services
Group is the world’s
leading provider of
outsourced services to
the steel industry and
other metal producers,
and is a leading
manufacturer of high-
quality industrial
abrasives and roofing
granules. 

The Harsco Gas and Fluid
Control Group is the
premier supplier of
technology, products and
services to the global gas
production and energy
industries. The Group
serves multiple, strategic
markets through a
combination of industry-
leading businesses. 

The Harsco Infrastructure
Group serves the
worldwide railroad
maintenance-of-way and
non-residential
construction industries
with the most
comprehensive portfolio
of state-of-the-art
equipment, services, 
and experience. 

Harsco’s expanding presence in

the strategic industrial sectors of

steel, gas and energy, and

infrastructure development is

reflected in the strength of our

market-leading brands. All

command major market share

and are recognized as the best

known, best financed and most

respected names in their

industries. Through disciplined

internal growth and prudent

acquisitions, Harsco has become

a global market leader in 

long-term, vital businesses, each

with a future for growth. 

Corporate Profile

42%

25%

Net Sales

Net Sales

33%

Net Sales
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Heckett MultiServ

Services and Products
On location at more than 160
mills in over 30 countries,
providing services throughout
the entire steelmaking
process, from raw material
handling to by-product
recycling and finished product
handling and distribution.

Market Outlook
The global steel industry 
is well-positioned for
significant growth in 2000
and beyond. Heightened
demand for production
efficiency and quality will
favor increased outsourcing.

Reed Minerals

Services and Products
A leading producer of 
roofing granules, used in 
the manufacture of asphalt
roofing shingles for the
residential roofing market,
and industrial abrasives,
used to remove paint and
corrosion from industrial
surfaces.

Market Outlook
The high-end laminated
shingle market is expected to
grow substantially over the
next five years, while the
abrasives market is also
expected to increase, though
more modestly. Environmental
and health regulations favor
Reed Minerals’ products.

Taylor-Wharton

Services and Products
One of America’s oldest
industrial companies,
producing the broadest
selection of gas containment
products in the world. Major
products include cryogenic
containers for liquefied
gases, high pressure and
acetylene cylinders, and
liquid nitrogen refrigerators,
dewars and freezers.

Market Outlook
Worldwide markets are
expected to grow 4-5% per
year over the next five years
as global economic recovery
accelerates equipment
demand for gas products.
Taylor-Wharton is well-
positioned with worldwide
facilities.

American 
Welding and Tank
Services and Products
North America’s largest
producer of 120-2000 gallon
liquid petroleum gas (LPG)
tanks for aboveground and
underground use, for a range
of residential, commercial
and industrial applications.

Market Outlook
Moderate market growth is
expected to continue,
reflecting continued exurban
expansion, increased use of
manufactured housing, and
growth in non-traditional
propane gas applications.

Capitol Manufacturing

Services and Products
One of the largest and 
most experienced U.S.
manufacturers of industrial
pipe fittings and conduit pipe
products. 

Market Outlook
As key oil field, industrial
and paper producing markets
improve, increased
investment in facility
upgrades, expansion and
modernization should
generate increasing sales
opportunities. Major
customers are reducing their
vendor base, making Capitol
the supplier of choice.

Sherwood

Services and Products
A leading worldwide
producer of gas control
products for home,
commercial, and 
industrial use, and the 
only totally integrated 
brass valve manufacturer 
in North America. 

Market Outlook
Harsco’s integrated
marketing of Sherwood gas
control products with Taylor-
Wharton’s gas containment
technologies is expected to
generate increasing market
share and sales growth.

Structural Composites
Industries
Services and Products
The world’s leading producer
of lightweight, filament-
wound composite cylinders,
pressure vessels and
structures for gas storage,
used wherever lightweight
composites technology is
essential for end-use
applications. 

Market Outlook
SCI’s market leadership in
such areas as self-contained
breathing apparatus and
alternative fuel vessels
should underpin an
improving world market
outlook for composite
materials.

Air-x-changers

Services and Products
Air-x-changers provides
custom-designed and
manufactured air-cooled heat
exchangers, principally for
application on field-sited
natural gas compression
packages for both domestic
and international locations.

Market Outlook
The market demand for
cooling units for natural gas
compressors and engines is
expected to rise, as natural
gas consumption continues
to increase as a percentage
of the world’s energy use.

Harsco Track
Technologies
Services and Products
Significantly expanded in
1999 through the acquisition
of Pandrol Jackson, Harsco
Track Technologies is the
world’s second largest and
most comprehensive provider
of railroad maintenance-of-
way equipment and 
services for railway track
maintenance and new track
construction.

Market Outlook
Increased rail freight traffic
and railway privatization
initiatives are expected to
lead to additional railway
maintenance and new track
construction requirements. 

Patent Construction
Systems
Services and Products
North America’s oldest and
most complete provider of
state-of-the-art scaffolding,
concrete forming and shoring
products, supplying a full
range of product engineering
and on-site installation
services.

Market Outlook
Total U.S. non-residential
construction volume is
forecast to remain steady,
and return to further growth
in 2002-2004. The
international outlook is
favorable with returning
economic growth.

IKG Industries

Services and Products
America’s leading producer
of industrial grating products
and highway bridge decking.

Market Outlook
Spending for new
manufacturing plant
construction and upgrades 
is improving after a 2-3 year
decline. The outlook for
bridge deck is the best ever,
reflecting increased U.S.
funding for bridge repair and
construction.

Patterson-Kelley

Services and Products
Founded in 1880, one of
America’s most experienced
manufacturers of water
heaters and boilers for
commercial, institutional and
industrial buildings, and a
major producer of blenders,
dryers and mixers for the
chemical and food
processing industries. 

Market Outlook
Commercial/industrial
requirements for energy 
and operating efficiency
favor Patterson-Kelley’s
revolutionary boiler
technology. The blender
outlook is positive, reflecting
increased focus on new
pharmaceutical and
nutraceutical products.
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The full year results reflected the effects of this temporary halt in

our momentum. Net income declined to $90.7 million, compared with

$107.5 million in 1998. Revenues were also down slightly to $1.72 bil-

lion, compared with 1998’s total of $1.74 billion. Had it not been for

the negative effects of foreign exchange translation against the strong

U.S. dollar, however, our 1999 revenues would have modestly exceed-

ed 1998’s. Diluted earnings per share for the full year 1999 were 13

cents lower than the previous year, at $2.21 compared with $2.34, but

improved to record levels in the fourth quarter, reinforcing our opti-

mistic outlook for 2000 and beyond. 

The Company’s operating cash flows and overall financial health

remain strong. Cash from operations increased 13 percent over 1998,

enabling us to continue our investment strategy to increase stockholder

value and long-term internal growth. In the recent past, our substantial

cash generation has enabled us to repurchase approximately 20 percent

of the outstanding shares of the Company while investing nearly $700

million in new products and technologies, facility improvements and

acquisitions. We expect all of these actions to provide a solid platform

for the Company’s future earnings growth. We again increased our divi-

dend in 1999, the seventh such increase in the last eight years. Harsco

has now paid cash dividends every year since 1939.

We take encouragement from the revitalization of our order book. At

the end of 1999, our product backlogs reflected clear signs of recovery,

increasing 23 percent over year-end 1998. Further, the estimated value of

Report to Stockholders

The outcome for the year under review was as predicted. 
We started slowly but accelerated steadily as our principal
markets recovered from the global economic crisis of the 
fall of 1998 through the spring of 1999.
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our long-term mill services contracts has meanwhile climbed to an all-time

high of $3.6 billion. This is evidence of the increasing interest in service

outsourcing by our major global steel customers, and validation of our

expanding capabilities and performance as their supplier of choice. In this

regard, it is pleasing to note that in this past year, we successfully renewed

some 98 percent of the long-term contracts value that became due.

The industries served by Harsco are fundamental to world economic

growth and progress. They are long-term, vibrant industries with 

deep histories and secure futures. We are determined to remain at the

leading edge of their growth. 

This requires that we build a solid, yet flexible organization that

will allow us to capitalize on opportunities created by change. The

increasing globalization and large-scale customer consolidations now

taking place within our major markets will provide us with opportuni-

ties, as well as challenges. 

We have developed detailed strategies in each of our businesses to

address this changing environment, and the specific operational needs

and resource utilization required to meet our business objectives. We

envision an expanding role for electronic-based commerce beyond our

substantial investment in modern integrated Enterprise Resource

Planning (ERP) systems. For example, our mill services operations are

connected electronically around the globe and share information to

optimize supply chain and customer relationship management. Further,

we have intranet capability in two-thirds of our worldwide operations.

A number of our major customers have enjoyed the benefits of busi-

ness-to-business commerce via Electronic Data Interchange (EDI).

They will derive further benefits as we migrate these applications to the

Internet. Our ability to adapt and use new information technologies will

greatly assist in our maintaining competitive advantage in our markets.

The industries
served by Harsco
are fundamental 
to world economic
growth and
progress.
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The global steel industry appears to be returning to an extended

period of growth following the extraordinary difficulties of the past 

12-18 months. Within this improving outlook, steel producers remain

under constant pressure to produce higher quality products at lower

cost. Simultaneously, the by-products of steel production have 

become an ever-increasing concern for steelmakers, for both cost and

environmental reasons. 

These issues are fundamental to the services and processes that we

offer, and will be a source of increased outsourcing momentum for us in

the future. Our global size and scope, represented by mill services

operations in over 30 countries and more than 160 locations, enables us

to forge ever-stronger relationships by introducing new add-on services

and value-adding technologies, thereby increasing our

market penetration. The realignment taking place in

the industry, with changing ownership and consolida-

tion of some of the largest steel producing companies,

gives us the opportunity to provide more services to a

wider range of mills. 

In executing our strategic restructuring around

core industrial services and products, we have contin-

ued to cull certain lower margin operations in which

we saw limited future opportunity, and are successfully

exiting our least rewarding situations, most notably in

Russia. The cash generated from these transactions is

giving us additional capital to reinvest in more attractive opportunities

within our industrial services businesses.

We have taken steps in our Gas and Fluid Control business to build

upon our solid foundation, in readiness for the improving market envi-

ronment. Our major industrial gas customers are becoming increasingly

Net Sales 
(In millions)

Operating Profit*
(In millions)
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* Operating profit is defined 
as Income before interest, 
income taxes, and minority 
interest.

Harsco Mill Services Segment



global in nature, and global customers want global suppliers. Through

our recent acquisitions and internal restructuring, we have positioned

ourselves at the forefront of the industry in our ability to provide the

broad product portfolio and geographic reach they demand. We have

recently taken these competitive advantages even further by consolidat-

ing our multiple gas and energy-related businesses into a single, cohesive

organization. This step will enable us to capitalize on common channels

of distribution and marketing, while creating new sales opportunities as a

one-stop resource for entire families of interrelated products, such as

precision valves and cryogenic vessels. 

We are growing our ensemble of gas and fluid control products with

pacesetting technology and product upgrades. Among these is our

OPDQ overfill prevention device, which is designed

to prevent the potentially dangerous overfilling of

smaller-capacity propane gas cylinders, including

those used in millions of backyard barbecue grills.

Beginning in 2002, U.S. industry mandates will

require overfill prevention devices in all existing

cylinders as well as new cylinders. It is estimated

that as many as 60 million units will be affected in

America alone. Our revolutionary, patented design

and automated, high speed production place us well

ahead of our competition. 

Our cryogenic tank and cylinder manufacturing

operations in Malaysia and China position us well for Asia’s economic

recovery and industrial expansion. The Beijing operation has estab-

lished itself as one of the fastest-growing cryogenic tank manufacturers

in China, and recently received notification that it has earned official

manufacturing license approval from the Chinese government. As in
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* Operating profit is defined 
as Income before interest, 
income taxes, and minority 
interest.
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Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment



other developing economies such as Latin America, the demand for

industrial gas equipment is expected to accelerate in tandem with new

industrial construction and infrastructure development.

In October, we completed the largest acquisition in the history of

our railway business, acquiring the Pandrol Jackson railway track

maintenance organization after a frustratingly long regulatory approval

process that stretched well over a year. We have combined Pandrol

Jackson with our existing Fairmont Tamper division to create Harsco

Track Technologies, a substantial $200 million railway maintenance

franchise that will be better able to compete and win in the broader

worldwide market. As global economies strengthen, more emphasis is

being placed on rail line upgrades and expansion to handle the

increased volume of freight and passenger traffic.

Worldwide rail privatization is another encourag-

ing market driver for our railway business. As nation-

al rail systems make the difficult transition from years

of government control, the private sector is increas-

ingly turning to the proven experience of modern U.S.

operating practices – and full-service suppliers – for

solutions. As the acknowledged U.S. market leader,

our new Harsco Track Technologies (HTT) organiza-

tion puts us in a better position than ever before to

take maximum advantage of these emerging service

and product opportunities. Combining the technology

of the newest innovation in computerized track maintenance equipment,

the “Stoneblower”, with the industry-leading computer technologies of

our World Class Tamping equipment will provide HTT with continuing

competitive advantage for the future in its marketplace.
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* Operating profit is defined 
as Income before interest, 
income taxes, and minority 
interest.
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Harsco Infrastructure Segment



Following last year’s internal reorganization and consolidation, our

scaffolding services and industrial grating businesses are demonstrating

the improved profitability we have been anticipating. Under our

“Model Branch” and continuous improvement programs, we have sys-

tematically re-examined the operating performance of each of our more

than 50 branch and manufacturing locations, and upgraded where nec-

essary. In these mature but steady markets, we continue to differentiate

ourselves from our competition by offering superior products and

value-adding engineering services. Our outlook for bridge decking 

and related products is the best it has ever been, due to the increased

federal funding now being allocated for bridge rehabilitation and

reconstruction. 

The deliberate and positive steps taken by management to cultivate

operating leverage are evidenced by our improving margins. By the

end of the year, our Harsco Mill Services and Gas and Fluid Control

Groups both experienced improvement. The margin improvement

gains of our Harsco Infrastructure Group were temporarily impeded

late in the year by the costs of new product introductions and other

product costs, but should return this year, benefiting from the contin-

ued progress in our initiatives for internal consolidation and improved

operating efficiency, and with the further integration of our Pandrol

Jackson acquisition.

The year also brought resolution to various legal disputes associated

with the Company’s former defense business, which has been a continu-

ing objective of our business plan. We concluded two long-standing cases

relating to military tracked vehicle production programs dating back to

the 1980s and early 1990s. The negotiated settlements reached with the

U.S. Government were in line with the previously established reserves.

91999 Harsco Corporation Annual Report

The deliberate 
and positive steps
taken by manage-
ment to cultivate
operating leverage
are evidenced by
our improving
margins. 
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Closing these lingering, time consuming, not to mention costly, litigation

matters allows management to devote attention to our primary goals.

We intend to re-arm our balance sheet in 2000 by increasing our

discretionary cash flows and reducing debt. Our financial goals for the

year, excluding acquisitions, anticipate revenue growth in the range of

5 to 7 percent, and earnings per share growth of between 13 and 15

percent. We expect corresponding improvement in returns on average

equity, assets and capital. We intend to remain receptive to acquisi-

tions that offer realistic near-term benefit to our gathering momentum

and core service and product focus, consistent with our disciplined

acquisition philosophy. 

Harsco is and will continue to be a market leader in the strategic

industries in which we participate. We look forward to the opportunity

of capitalizing on our substantial operating leverage and global market

leadership, which we believe will enable us to achieve the annual

growth goals to which we remain steadfastly committed. 

Derek C. Hathaway, Chairman 

and Chief Executive Officer 

March 2, 2000

To learn more
about Harsco’s
worldwide services
and products, 
please visit our
website at
www.harsco.com.
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Financial Section

Financial Condition and Liquidity
The change in the Company’s financial position and liquidity is sum-
marized as follows:

December 31 December 31 Increase
(Dollars are in millions) 1999 1998 (Decrease)

Current Assets $ 612.9 $ 587.4 $ 25.5
Current Liabilities 430.5 474.8 (44.3)

Working Capital $ 182.4 $ 112.6 $ 69.8
Current Ratio 1.4:1 1.2:1

Notes Payable and 
Current Maturities $ 36.6 $ 54.6 $(18.0)

Long-term Debt 418.5 309.1 109.4

Total Debt 455.1 363.7 91.4
Total Equity 650.1 685.3 (35.2)

Total Capital $1,105.2 $1,049.0 $ 56.2
Total Debt to Total Capital 41.2% 34.7%

The improvement in the Company’s working capital position and cur-
rent ratio during 1999 was due principally to a reduction in current
liabilities of $44.3 million. Additionally, current assets increased, but
at a lesser rate. The largest reduction within current liabilities was an
$18.0 million decrease in notes payable and current maturities of
long-term debt due principally to refinancing short term notes into
long-term debt. The reduction in current liabilities also included
$14.6 million of cash payments related to the discontinued defense
business. This is reflected as a reduction in Other current liabilities in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

A strategic focus of the Company is the minimization of capital
employed including inventory levels. Inventories decreased a net of
$3.6 million despite an increase of $16.3 million related to a fourth
quarter 1999 acquired company (acquisition). Receivables increased
by $20.2 million principally due to the acquisition and the timing of
sales. Sales in the last two months of 1999 substantially exceeded
those in the last two months of 1998.

Long-term debt increased in 1999 principally as a result of capital
expenditures (investments), share repurchases and an acquisition in
the fourth quarter of 1999. Capital investments for 1999 were a
record $175.2 million compared with the previous record of $159.8
million in 1998. Investments were made for new mill services con-
tracts and other business growth initiatives, information technology,
new processes, and for productivity improvements. The Company
acquired 2,326,798 shares of its common stock in 1999 at a cost of
$66.4 million. Due to the timing of actual cash settlements for the pur-
chase of the stock, the cash used in 1999 was $71.9 million. The capi-
tal investments, share repurchases and cash dividends demonstrate
the Company’s continued commitment to creating value through
strategic investment and return of capital to shareholders. In the past
six years, the Company has committed over $1.7 billion to increasing
shareholder value.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Cash Utilization 
Creating Shareholder Value
(In millions)

94 95 96 97 98 99
Cash Dividends 35.1 37.4 37.9 39.1 40.3 37.0
Share Repurchases — 14.1 30.7 113.2 169.3 71.9
Strategic Acquisitions — 4.1 21.1 8.5 158.3 48.9
Capital Investments 90.9 113.9 150.3 143.4 159.8 175.2
Total 126.0 169.5 240.0 304.2 527.7 333.0
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The Company’s debt as a percent of total capital changed as a 
result of increased debt and a decrease in equity capital due to the
Company’s share repurchases and $27.3 million resulting from
foreign currency translation adjustments. The foreign currency
translation adjustments are principally due to 1999’s 14% decrease in
the translated value of the euro and a 33% decrease in the translated
value of the Brazilian real.

Financial Statistics for the Year Ended December 31 1999 1998

Harsco Stock Price High-Low $34.38- $23.06 $47.25- $23.00
Return on Average Equity 13.9% 14.3%
Return on Average Assets 10.7% 12.9%
Return on Average Capital 10.0% 11.5%

Lower returns on average equity, assets, and capital are due princi-
pally to lower income in 1999 compared with the record income from
continuing operations for 1998. More specifically, income was lower in
the first half of 1999 compared to the first half of 1998. However, this
was partially offset by higher income for the second half of 1999 than
the same period of 1998. Return on average equity was positively
affected by lower average equity due principally to share repurchases.
The Company’s book value per share was unchanged at $16.22 per
share at December 31, 1998 and 1999. 

(In millions) 1999 1998 1997

Net Cash Provided by Operations: $214.0 $189.3 $148.5

Operating cash flows were a strong $214.0 million in 1999 compared
with $189.3 million in 1998. These amounts include $14.6 million in
1999 and $13.6 million in 1998 of cash payments for the discontinued
defense business. The increase in cash from operating activities was
due principally to intensified efforts to reduce inventories in 1999. A
strategic management initiative in 1999 has focused on a reduction of
working capital components including inventory. This focus will con-
tinue in 2000 and beyond. Lower earnings in 1999, the timing of cash
receipts from accounts receivable, and the timing of payments on
accounts payable, partially offset the significant improvement in cash
provided by operations.

The Company has a U.S. commercial paper borrowing program under
which it can issue up to $400 million of short-term notes in the U.S.
commercial paper market. In addition, the Company has a three bil-
lion Belgian franc commercial paper program, equivalent to approxi-
mately U.S. $75 million at December 31, 1999. The Belgian program

provides the capacity to borrow euros to fund the Company’s
European operations more efficiently. The Company limits the aggre-
gate commercial paper and syndicated credit facility borrowings at
any one time to a maximum $400 million. At December 31, 1999, the
Company had $205.4 million of U.S. commercial paper debt out-
standing, and $28.3 million of commercial paper debt outstanding
under the Belgian program.

The Company has available through a syndicate of banks a $400 mil-
lion multi-currency five-year revolving credit facility, extending
through July 2001. This facility serves as back-up to the Company’s
U.S. commercial paper program. As of December 31, 1999 there were
no borrowings outstanding under this facility.

The Company’s outstanding long-term notes are rated A by Standard
& Poor’s, A by Fitch IBCA and A-3 by Moody’s. The Company’s
commercial paper is rated A-1 by Standard & Poor’s, F-1 by Fitch
IBCA and P-2 by Moody’s. A Form S-3 shelf registration is on file
with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the possible
issuance of up to an additional $200 million of new debt securities,
preferred stock or common stock.

As supported by the above, the Company’s financial position and
debt capacity should enable it to meet its current and future require-
ments. As additional resources are needed, the Company should be
able to obtain funds readily and at competitive costs. The Company is
positioned to continue to invest in strategic acquisitions, selective high
return capital investments, and to issue cash dividends as means to
enhance stockholder value. The Company recently completed its
strategic initiative of purchasing 20% of the Company’s outstanding
shares. With the completion of this program, the Company intends to
use future discretionary cash flow principally for debt reduction and
acquisitions, although additional shares may be acquired from time 
to time.

Results of Operations 
1999 compared with 1998

Amount Percent
Increase Increase

(Dollars are in millions, except per share) 1999 1998 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Revenues $1,720.8 $1,735.4 $(14.6) (1%)
Income before interest, income 

taxes, and minority interest 169.7 191.9 (22.2) (12%)
Net income 90.7 107.5 (16.8) (16%)
Basic earnings 

per common share 2.22 2.36 (.14) (6%)
Diluted earnings 

per common share 2.21 2.34 (.13) (6%)
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Summary Analysis of Results

Despite improving conditions in the steel industry during the last six
months of 1999, the Company’s results for the full year of 1999 reflect
the adverse effects of a steel industry affected by overcapacity,
reduced prices and weak demand in certain parts of the world. These
problems contributed to reduced steel production and financial stress
at several steel mills. Certain customers in the United States were
forced to file for bankruptcy protection. In the second half of 1999,
increased levels of domestic steel production and capacity utilization
favorably affected the Company’s results. Second half net income and
earnings per share for 1999 exceeded the same period of 1998.

Soft market conditions in the industrial gas and oil industries con-
tributed to lower results for 1999. However, the significant increase in
crude oil prices that was experienced in late 1999 contributed to
improved results for the second half. The Company’s order backlog
in the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment as of December 31,
1999 is 27% higher than as of December 31, 1998, reflecting
improved business conditions.

In 1999, the strong U.S. dollar adversely impacted the foreign curren-
cy translation effect on results of operations in many countries in
which the Company operates.

Additionally, pre-tax pension expense for 1999, calculated in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 87, was $10.6 million higher than 1998. The
increase unfavorably impacted cost of services and products sold, as
well as selling, general, and administrative expenses.

Despite decreases in the Company’s revenues and income for 1999
when compared to 1998, certain economic and market conditions as
of December 31, 1999, particularly for the Harsco Mill Services and
the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segments, indicate that the unfa-
vorable trends experienced in 1999 have begun to dissipate.

Comparative Analysis of Consolidated Results

Revenues
Revenues for 1999 were $1.72 billion, slightly below 1998. The
decrease reflects principally the unfavorable effects of market condi-
tions in the steel, oil and gas industries during the first six months of
1999. Improvements in market conditions in the second half of 1999,
as well as higher sales from acquisitions, net of dispositions of non-
core businesses, partially offset the lower sales reported in the first six
months of 1999. Excluding the adverse foreign exchange translation
effect of the strengthening U.S. dollar, particularly relative to the
Brazilian real, the euro, the South African rand and the British
pound, revenues exceeded 1998.

Cost of Sales and Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses
Costs of services and products sold for 1999 approximated that of
1998. As a result of divesting certain non-core businesses and the
Company’s continuing cost reduction, process improvement, and
reorganization efforts, selling, general, and administrative expenses
decreased despite the inclusion of acquired companies. The total of
cost of sales plus selling, general, and administrative expenses was
lower than 1998, despite a significant increase in pension expense.

Net Special Charges and Gains
In 1999, the Company incurred $6.0 million of net pre-tax expense
related to special charges and gains. Special charges include asset
write-downs, employee termination benefit costs, costs to exit activi-
ties, and other reorganization-related costs resulting from the compa-
ny’s continuing efforts to consolidate and streamline its businesses.
Gains result principally from the disposal of non-core businesses. In
1998, net special charges were $2.2 million. 

Net gains for 1998 of $29.1 million consist principally of a pre-tax net
gain of $27 million recorded on the October 1998 sale of the Nutter
Engineering unit of the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment. Such
gains are reflected as adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows. Total proceeds associated with 1998 special gains were
$42.9 million and are included in proceeds from the sale of businesses
and property, plant and equipment in the investing activities section
of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Net gains for 1999 were
$0.6 million.

Impaired asset write-downs for 1999 of $2.9 million include a $1.9
million pre-tax, non-cash, write-down of the Company’s investment in
Bio-Oxidation Services Inc. which is included in the Harsco Gas and
Fluid Control Segment. The Company’s investment in Bio-Oxidation
Services Inc. is being held for disposal. The write-down amount was
measured on the basis of the lower of carrying amount or fair value
less cost to sell. Fair value was determined using available information
based upon the estimated amount at which the assets could be sold in
a current transaction between willing parties. For the year ended
December 31, 1999, Bio-Oxidation Services Inc. recorded a pre-tax
loss of $2.3 million which includes the asset write-down of $1.9 mil-
lion. The Company estimates that the disposal will occur during 2000.

Impaired asset write-downs of $14.4 million for 1998 include a $6.1
million pre-tax, non-cash, write-down of the Company’s investment in
Bio-Oxidation Services Inc. For the year ended December 31, 1998,
Bio-Oxidation Services Inc. recorded a pre-tax loss of $9.8 million
which includes the asset write-down of $6.1 million.

1999 Global Sales

United States
Europe
Latin America
Asia-Pacific
All Other

64%
22%

5%
3%
6%
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Impaired asset write-downs for 1998 also include a $6.1 million pre-
tax, non-cash, write-down of assets, principally property, plant and
equipment in the Harsco Mill Services Segment. The write-down
became necessary as a result of significant adverse changes in the
international economic environment and the steel industry.
Impairment loss was measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of assets exceeded their estimated fair value. Fair value was
estimated based upon the expected future realizable net cash flows. In
September 1999, assets associated with a substantial portion of this
provision were sold in conjunction with the termination settlement of
a contract in Russia. 

Employee termination benefit costs consist principally of severance
arrangements to employees terminated as a result of management
reorganization actions. Under these reorganization actions, the
Company’s management has established and approved specific plans
of termination. Details of the termination benefit plans have been
communicated to the affected employees prior to recognition of relat-
ed provisions. Non-cash charges for employee termination benefit
costs are included as adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows. 

During 1999, $2.9 million of expense related to employee termination
benefits was incurred principally in the Harsco Mill Services Segment,
primarily in France and the United Kingdom. In 1999, 220 employees
were included in employee termination arrangements initiated by the
Company and approximately $1.8 million of cash payments were
made under such arrangements. The payments are reflected as uses
of operating cash in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

During 1998, $6.5 million of expense related to employee termination
benefits occurred principally in the Harsco Mill Services Segment,
primarily in South Africa, United States, France, and Germany. In
1998, approximately 670 employees were included in employee termi-
nation arrangements initiated by the Company and approximately
$2.4 million of cash payments were made under such arrangements.
An additional $3.3 million was disbursed in 1999 for the 1998 reorgan-
ization actions.

Employee Termination Benefit Costs and Payments

(In millions) Summary of Activity 

Original reorganization action period 1999 1998

Employee termination benefits expense $ 2.9 $ 6.5

Payments:
Disbursed in 1998 — (2.4)
Disbursed in 1999 (1) (1.8) (3.3)

Total payments (1.8) (5.7)
Other — (0.4)

Remaining payments as of
December 31, 1999 (2) $ 1.1 $ 0.4

(1) Disbursements in 1999 are categorized according to the original reorganization
action period to which they relate (1999 or 1998). Cash severance payments in 1999
occurred principally in the Harsco Mill Services Segment in South Africa principally
for 1998 reorganization actions.

(2) Remaining payments are categorized according to the original reorganization action
period to which they relate (1999 or 1998).

Employee Terminations – Number of Employees

Summary of Activity 

Original reorganization action period 1999 1998

Employees affected by new reorganization actions 220 670

Employee terminations:
Terminated in 1998 — (349)
Terminated in 1999 (172) (352)

Total terminations (172) (701)
Other (9) 35

Remaining terminations as of
December 31, 1999 39 4

Interest Expense
The Company’s defense business was sold in the fourth quarter of
1997. This resulted in $344 million of pre-tax cash proceeds. The
availability of a substantial portion of this cash in 1998 resulted in
additional interest income, as well as reduced interest expense com-
pared to 1999. Additionally, interest expense for 1999 was higher than
1998 as a result of increased borrowings for record capital expendi-
tures (investments), the Company’s share repurchase program and an
acquisition in the fourth quarter of 1999. Capital investments, $175.2
million in 1999, were made for new mill services contracts, other busi-
ness growth initiatives, information technology, new processes, and
for productivity improvements.

Income Before Income Taxes and Minority Interest
As a result of factors disclosed in previous sections, income before income
taxes and minority interest was down 18% from 1998.
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Provision for Income Taxes
The effective income tax rate for 1999 was 35% versus 37.5% for
1998. The reduction in the income tax rate is due principally to lower
effective income tax rates on domestic earnings.

Net Income and Earnings Per Share
Net income of $90.7 million was below 1998. Basic earnings per common
share were $2.22 down from $2.36 in 1998. Diluted earnings per com-
mon share were $2.21 down from $2.34 in 1998.

Segment Analysis

Harsco Mill Services Segment
Amount Percent
Increase Increase

(Dollars are in millions) 1999 1998 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Sales $729.6 $751.9 $(22.3) (3%)
Income before interest, income 

taxes, and minority interest 81.2 84.3 (3.1) (4%)
Segment net income 45.1 43.3 1.8 4%

Sales of the Harsco Mill Services Segment were below 1998. The
inclusion of sales from an acquired company for the full year 1999
was partially offset by the 1998 disposition of a non-core business.
The decrease also reflects the unfavorable effects of foreign exchange
translation and overcapacity in the steel industry which adversely
affected worldwide steel prices and production. This is particularly
true in the United States where the steel industry filed complaints
with the government due to alleged unfairly low-priced imports.
Lower steel production adversely affected volume and margins at
most steel mills in the United States including many of the Company’s
customers. However, during the last six months of 1999, steel
production and capacity utilization in the United States trended
upwards reflecting the highest levels since the second quarter of 1998.
Additionally, certain other key countries in which the Company con-
ducts business also experienced upward trends in steel production in
1999. The Harsco Mill Services Segment fourth quarter 1999 results
reflected this trend as revenues and income, excluding special charges
and gains, exceeded the same period of 1998.

Income before interest, income taxes, and minority interest of the
Harsco Mill Services Segment was below 1998. Results in 1998 includ-
ed $10.0 million of pre-tax, non-cash write-downs of assets, principal-
ly property, plant and equipment. Additionally, $4.9 million of
employee termination benefit costs were included in net special
charges and gains in 1998. Excluding net special charges and gains,
income before interest, income taxes, and minority interest was $84.5
million in 1999 compared to $99.9 million in 1998.

The decrease in income for 1999 reflected the adverse effects of lower
steel production and prices in the first half of 1999. Results for 1999
include a foreign currency transaction gain in Brazil, while in 1998,
net foreign currency translation exchange losses were incurred. The
transaction gain in Brazil partially offset the net unfavorable foreign
currency impact associated with translation of the results of opera-
tions of the Harsco Mill Services Segment.

Net income of the Harsco Mill Services Segment was above 1998.
Excluding net special charges and gains, net income in 1999 was $47.3
million compared to $52.9 million in 1998 reflecting the conditions
previously disclosed.

Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment
Amount Percent
Increase Increase

(Dollars are in millions) 1999 1998(1) (Decrease) (Decrease)

Sales $560.9 $588.7 $(27.8) (5%)
Income before interest, income 

taxes, and minority interest 47.5 72.3 (24.8) (34%)
Segment net income 27.0 40.9 (13.9) (34%)

(1) Segment information for 1998 has been restated to reflect the realignment of the heat
transfer and industrial blending equipment product lines from the Harsco Gas and
Fluid Control Segment to the Harsco Infrastructure Segment. Sales of these product
lines were $26.9 million and $29.2 million for the years 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Sales of the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment decreased from
1998. The inclusion of a full year’s sales of three acquired companies
was more than offset by lower sales of process equipment due in part to
the disposition of three non-core businesses. Reduced sales of gas con-
trol and containment equipment and process equipment also reflected
decreased demand in the industrial gas and oil industries. In late 1999,
these industries were favorably affected by rising crude oil prices.

Income before interest, income taxes, and minority interest of the
Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment was below 1998 principally due
to the inclusion in 1998 of gains on the disposal of two businesses.
Excluding net special charges and gains, income before interest, income
taxes, and minority interest was $50.0 million in 1999 compared to
$54.1 million in 1998. The decrease reflected the adverse effects of
reduced demand from customers in the industrial gas and oil industries.

Segment net income was below 1998 principally due to the inclusion in
1998 of gains on the disposal of two businesses. Net income for 1999
was adversely affected, but to a lesser extent than 1998, by valuation
provisions related to the write-down of assets held for disposal.
Excluding net special charges and gains, net income in 1999 was $28.6
million compared to $30.0 million in 1998.
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Harsco Infrastructure Segment
Amount Percent
Increase Increase

(Dollars are in millions) 1999 1998(1) (Decrease) (Decrease)

Sales $426.2 $392.9 $33.3 8%
Income before interest, income 

taxes, and minority interest 41.2 32.9 8.3 25%
Segment net income 22.5 18.6 3.9 21%

(1) Segment information for 1998 has been restated to reflect the realignment of the heat
transfer and industrial blending equipment product lines from the Harsco Gas and
Fluid Control Segment to the Harsco Infrastructure Segment. Sales of these product
lines were $26.9 million and $29.2 million for the years 1999 and 1998, respectively.

The Harsco Infrastructure Segment’s sales for 1999 exceeded 1998
due to increased sales of scaffolding, shoring and forming services, as
well as sales of railway maintenance-of-way equipment and contract
services which included the effect of an acquisition in the fourth quar-
ter of 1999.

Income before interest, income taxes, and minority interest of the
Harsco Infrastructure Segment was significantly above 1998.
Excluding net special charges and gains, income before interest,
income taxes, and minority interest was $41.2 million compared to
$37.7 million in 1998. The increase was due principally to improved
margins on sales of grating products and, to a lesser extent, higher
income for scaffolding, shoring and forming services.

Segment net income was above 1998 due principally to improved mar-
gins on sales of grating products. Additionally, increased income was
recorded for scaffolding, shoring and forming services. Excluding net
special charges and gains, net income in 1999 was $22.5 million com-
pared to $21.8 million in 1998.

Industrial Services and Engineered Products

In addition to the segment reporting previously presented, the Company
is a diversified industrial services and engineered products company.
Total industrial services sales include mill services, as well as scaffold-
ing, shoring, and forming services and railway maintenance-of-way
services. Engineered products include sales of the Reed Minerals unit in
the Harsco Mill Services Segment, and product sales of the Harsco
Infrastructure and the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segments. 

1999 1998
(Dollars are in millions) Amount Percent Amount Percent

Sales
Industrial Services $ 864.0 50% $ 866.4 50%
Engineered Products 852.7 50 867.1 50

Total sales $1,716.7 100% $1,733.5 100%

Income
Industrial Services $ 87.9 52% $ 80.2 42%
Engineered Products 82.0 48 109.3 58

Total segment income before 
interest, income taxes, and 
minority interest $ 169.9 100% $ 189.5 100%

Industrial services income in 1999 was $87.9 million compared with
$80.2 million in 1998. Excluding losses and impaired asset write-
downs associated with the medical waste disposal service business,
industrial services income was $90.2 million and $90.0 million for
1999 and 1998, respectively.

Income for engineered products in 1998 included a pre-tax net gain of
$27 million.

Results of Operations 
1998 Compared with 1997

Amount Percent
Increase Increase

(Dollars are in millions, except per share) 1998 1997 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Revenues $1,735.4 $1,629.1 $106.3 7%
Income from continuing 

operations before interest, 
income taxes, and minority 
interest 191.9 179.9 12.0 7%

Income from continuing 
operations 107.5 100.4 7.1 7%

Basic earnings per common 
share from continuing 
operations 2.36 2.06 .30 15%

Diluted earnings per common 
share from continuing 
operations 2.34 2.04 .30 15%

Summary Analysis of Results

The Company’s results for 1998 showed substantial improvement
over 1997. The acquisition of Faber Prest Plc for the Harsco Mill
Services Segment and three acquisitions for the Harsco Gas and Fluid
Control Segment enhanced the market leading position of these seg-
ments, and contributed to the overall revenue growth. Strong results
from scaffolding, shoring and forming services and process equipment
also contributed to improved operating results.

However, 1998 results were adversely affected by the Asian economic
crisis, particularly its effects on the steel industry. Beginning in the
third quarter of 1998, a significant decline in worldwide steel prices
occurred due to overcapacity in the industry. Several mills temporarily
idled capacity, impacting activity levels for the Harsco Mill Services
Segment. The Asian economic crisis also impacted the results of the
Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment’s Asian operations, lowered
export sales from certain domestic locations, and reduced margins of
certain domestic operations adversely affected by low-priced imports.

The strong U.S. dollar also adversely impacted 1998 results compared
to 1997 for many of the company’s international operations.

Comparative Analysis of Consolidated Results

Revenues
Revenues from continuing operations for 1998 were $1.74 billion, 7%
above 1997. The increase was due to the inclusion of acquired compa-
nies in 1998. Inclusion of the acquired companies increased revenues
for the Harsco Mill Services Segment and for gas control and contain-
ment equipment in the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment. 
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Process equipment sales also increased. Sales of scaffolding, shoring,
and forming services increased, but to a lesser extent. These increases
were partially offset by lower sales of industrial fittings, railway main-
tenance-of-way equipment and contract services, and grating.
Excluding the adverse foreign exchange translation effect of the
strengthening U.S. dollar, revenues from continuing operations for
1998 were approximately 8% above 1997.

Cost of Sales and Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses
Cost of products and services sold increased due to the inclusion of
acquired companies. Selling, general, and administrative expenses
were only slightly above 1997, despite the inclusion of acquired com-
panies. This resulted from the Company’s cost control efforts. Also
included in 1998 were $1.7 million of net pre-tax foreign currency
translation/transaction losses, principally due to the weakening of the
Mexican new peso and the Russian ruble in relation to the U.S. dol-
lar, as compared with $0.5 million of net foreign currency transla-
tion/transaction gains in 1997. 

Net Special Charges and Gains
In 1998 the Company incurred $2.2 million of net pre-tax special
charges including asset write-downs, employee termination benefit
costs, costs to exit activities, and other reorganization-related costs,
compared with $2.6 million in 1997. The charges were incurred as a
result of the Company’s continuing efforts to consolidate and stream-
line its businesses. The $2.2 million net special charges for 1998
include a $15.6 million net charge in the Harsco Mill Services Segment
and a $4.8 million net charge in the Harsco Infrastructure Segment
partially offset by an $18.2 million net gain in the Harsco Gas and
Fluid Control Segment. This net gain included a $27 million gain asso-
ciated with the sale of a business. The $2.6 million net special charges
for 1997 include a $1.8 million net charge in the Harsco Gas and
Fluid Control Segment, a $0.4 million net charge in the Harsco Mill
Services Segment and a $0.7 million net charge in general Corporate
expenses, partially offset by a $0.3 million net gain in the Harsco
Infrastructure Segment.

Net gains for 1998 consist principally of a pre-tax net gain of $27 mil-
lion recorded on the October 1998 sale of the Nutter Engineering unit
of the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment. Such gains are reflect-
ed as adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
Total proceeds associated with special gains were $42.9 million and
are included in proceeds from the sale of businesses and property,
plant and equipment in the investing activities section of the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. 

Impaired asset write-downs for 1998 include a $6.1 million pre-tax,
non-cash, write-down of the Company’s investment in Bio-Oxidation
Services Inc. which is included in the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control
Segment. The write-down amount was measured on the basis of the
lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. Fair value was
determined using available information based upon the estimated
amount at which the assets could be sold in a current transaction
between willing parties. For the year ended December 31, 1998 Bio-
Oxidation Services Inc. recorded a pre-tax loss of $9.8 million, which
includes the asset write-down of $6.1 million.

Impaired asset write-downs also include a fourth quarter 1998 $6.1
million pre-tax, non-cash, write-down of assets, principally property,
plant and equipment, in the Harsco Mill Services Segment. The write-
down became necessary as a result of significant adverse changes in
the international economic environment and the steel industry.
Impairment loss was measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of assets exceeded their estimated fair value. Fair value was
estimated based upon the expected future realizable net cash flows. 

Non-cash impaired asset write-downs are generally included in Other
(income) and expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
as adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by oper-
ating activities.

Employee termination benefit costs consist principally of severance
arrangements to employees terminated as a result of management reor-
ganization actions. Under these reorganization actions, the Company’s
management has established and approved specific plans of termination.
Details of the termination benefit plans have been communicated to the
affected employees prior to recognition of related provisions. Non-cash
charges for employee termination benefit costs are included as adjust-
ments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activi-
ties in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. 

During 1998, $6.5 million of reorganization expense related to
employee termination benefits occurred principally in the Harsco Mill
Services Segment, primarily in South Africa, United States, France,
and Germany. In 1998, approximately 670 employees were included
in employee termination arrangements initiated by the Company and
approximately $2.4 million of cash payments were made under such
arrangements. An additional $3.3 million was disbursed in 1999 for
the 1998 reorganization actions.

Employee Termination Benefit Costs and Payments

(In millions) Summary of Activity

Employee termination benefits expense for 1998 $ 6.5

Payments:
Disbursed in 1998 (2.4)
Disbursed in 1999 (3.3)

Total payments (5.7)
Other (0.4)

Remaining payments as of
December 31, 1999 $ 0.4

Employee Terminations – Number of Employees

Summary of Activity

Employees affected by 1998 reorganization actions 670

Employee terminations:
Terminated in 1998 (349)
Terminated in 1999 (352)

Total terminations (701)
Other 35

Remaining terminations as of
December 31, 1999 4



18

Costs to exit activities consist of incremental direct costs of reorgani-
zation actions and lease run-out costs. Such costs are recorded when
a specific exit plan is approved by management. Relocation expenses,
such as employee moving costs, are classified as exit costs and are
expensed as incurred. Other costs classified in this category are gener-
ally expensed as incurred. During 1998, $1.0 million and $0.8 million
of exit costs, principally relocation expenses, were included in the
Harsco Mill Services and Harsco Infrastructure Segments, respective-
ly. During 1997, $1.5 million of exit costs were included in the Harsco
Mill Services Segment. These costs resulted principally from the expi-
ration or termination of contracts at certain mill sites, as well as facili-
ty relocation costs.

Interest Expense
Interest expense increased in 1998 as a result of increased borrowings
for the Company’s share repurchase program and for the funding of
acquisitions.

Income from Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and
Minority Interest
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority
interest increased 5% from 1997 due principally to improved per-
formance. Increased earnings were achieved due principally to
improved results for scaffolding, shoring, and forming services and
process equipment, as well as the inclusion of acquired companies.
These increases were partially offset by lower results for metal recla-
mation and mill services, industrial fittings, grating, and gas control
and containment equipment, as well as start-up losses and asset write-
downs associated with the medical waste disposal services business.

Provision for Income Taxes
The effective income tax rate for continuing operations for 1998 was
37.5% versus 38% in 1997. The reduction in the income tax rate is
due to lower effective income tax rates on state, as well as internation-
al earnings.

Income from Continuing Operations
Income from continuing operations was up 7% from 1997. Basic
earnings per common share from continuing operations of $2.36 were
up 15% from 1997. 

Net Income and Earnings Per Share
Net income of $107.5 million for 1998 was below 1997, which included
$178.4 million of income and a gain from the Company’s discontinued
defense business. Basic earnings per common share were $2.36, down
from $5.72 in 1997. Diluted earnings per common share were $2.34,
down from $5.67 in 1997.

Segment Analysis

Harsco Mill Services Segment
Amount Percent

Increase Increase
(Dollars are in millions) 1998 1997 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Sales $751.9 $672.7 $79.2 12%
Income before interest, income

taxes, and minority interest 84.3 99.1 (14.8) (15%)
Segment net income 43.3 50.3 (7.0) (14%)

Sales of the Harsco Mill Services Segment were above 1997 despite the
adverse effect of foreign exchange translation. The increase was due to
the inclusion of an acquired company as of the second quarter of 1998. 

Income before interest, income taxes, and minority interest of the
Harsco Mill Services Segment was below 1997. Excluding special
charges and gains, income before interest, income taxes, and minority
interest for 1998 was $99.9 million, a slight increase from $99.5 mil-
lion for 1997. Increased income due to the inclusion of an acquired
company was offset by the adverse foreign exchange translation effect
of the strong U.S. dollar.

Net income of the Harsco Mill Services Segment was below 1997. The
decrease included after-tax net special charges of $9.8 million in 1998,
as well as the adverse foreign exchange translation effect of the strong
U.S. dollar, offset by the inclusion of an acquired company. The special
charges included principally asset write-downs and employee termina-
tion benefit costs. 

Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment
Amount Percent

Increase Increase
(Dollars are in millions) 1998(1) 1997(1) (Decrease) (Decrease)

Sales $588.7 $558.3 $30.4 5%
Income before interest, income 

taxes, and minority interest 72.3 51.3 21.0 41%
Segment net income 40.9 29.5 11.4 39%

(1) Segment information for 1998 and 1997 has been restated to reflect the realignment of
the heat transfer and industrial blending equipment product lines from the Harsco
Gas and Fluid Control Segment to the Harsco Infrastructure Segment. Sales of these
product lines were $29.2 million and $28.2 million for the years 1998 and 1997,
respectively.

Sales of the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment increased from
1997 due to the inclusion of sales of three acquired companies and
due to increased sales for process equipment. 

Income before interest, income taxes, and minority interest of the
Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment was significantly above 1997’s
comparable amount due to the inclusion of special charges and gains,
including a $27 million pre-tax net gain from the sale of a business.
Excluding all special charges and gains, income before interest,
income taxes, and minority interest was $54.1 million in 1998 com-
pared to $53.1 million in 1997. This increase was due to improved
results for process equipment.
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Net income of the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment was
significantly above 1997’s comparable period due principally to an
after-tax $16.9 million net gain arising from the sale of a business and,
to a lesser extent, improved results for process equipment. Income
increased despite start-up losses and asset write-downs associated with
the medical waste disposal services business. 

Harsco Infrastructure Segment
Amount Percent
Increase Increase

(Dollars are in millions) 1998(1) 1997(1) (Decrease) (Decrease)

Sales $392.9 $396.5 $(3.6) (1%)
Income before interest, income 

taxes, and minority interest 32.9 29.7 3.2 11%
Segment net income 18.6 15.5 3.1 20%

(1) Segment information for 1998 and 1997 has been restated to reflect the realignment of
the heat transfer and industrial blending equipment product lines from the Harsco
Gas and Fluid Control Segment to the Harsco Infrastructure Segment. Sales of these
product lines were $29.2 million and $28.2 million for the years 1998 and 1997,
respectively.

Sales of the Harsco Infrastructure Segment were slightly below 1997.
Sales of scaffolding, shoring, and forming services were above 1997.
However, sales of railway maintenance-of-way equipment and con-
tract services and grating products decreased from 1997.

Income before interest, income taxes, and minority interest was above
1997. Special charges and gains for the Harsco Infrastructure
Segment were $4.8 million in 1998, principally asset write-downs.
Excluding special charges and gains, income before interest, income
taxes, and minority interest was $37.7 million compared to $29.4 mil-
lion in 1997. The increase was principally due to improved results for
scaffolding, shoring, and forming services.

Net income of the Harsco Infrastructure Segment in 1998 was above
1997. The increase is due to improved results for scaffolding, shoring,
and forming services.

Industrial Services and Engineered Products

In addition to the segment reporting previously presented, the
Company is a diversified industrial services and engineered products
company. Industrial services sales include mill services, as well as scaf-
folding, shoring, and forming services and railway maintenance-of-way
services. Engineered products include sales of the Reed Minerals unit in
the Harsco Mill Services Segment, and product sales of the Harsco
Infrastructure and the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segments. 

1998 1997
(Dollars are in millions) Amount Percent Amount Percent

Sales
Industrial Services $ 866.4 50% $ 782.4 48%
Engineered Products 867.1 50 845.1 52

Total sales $1,733.5 100% $1,627.5 100%

Income
Industrial Services $ 80.2 42% $ 99.6 55%
Engineered Products 109.3 58 80.5 45

Total segment income before 
interest, income taxes, and 
minority interest $ 189.5 100% $ 180.1 100%

Industrial services income decreased 19% in 1998 compared to 1997
due to net special charges and gains. Net special charges and gains in
1998 included asset write-downs associated with the medical waste dis-
posal services business and asset write-downs and employee termina-
tion benefit costs in the Harsco Mill Services Segment. Excluding net
special charges and gains, industrial services income was $102.5 mil-
lion in 1998 compared to $98.9 million in 1997. This increase was due
to improved results for scaffolding, shoring, and forming services.

Engineered products income increased 35% in 1998 compared to
1997. This increase was principally due to a $27 million pre-tax net
gain from the sale of a business. Excluding net special charges and
gains, engineered products income in 1998 was $89.2 million compared
to $83.1 million in 1997. This increase was due to improved results for
process equipment and the inclusion of acquired companies.

Economic Environment
The Company has currency exposures for its international operations
which may be subject to volatility, such as the 1999 foreign exchange
fluctuations experienced in Brazil and the decline of the euro. Such
exposures may result in reduced sales, income, and cash flows. The
situations in Brazil and Europe are not expected to have a material
adverse impact on the Company’s financial position or results of oper-
ations. However, these and similar risks could result in a material
impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations in
the future. Balance sheet translation adjustments for the Brazilian
and European operations generally do not affect results of operations.

In 1998 and early 1999 the worldwide steel industry experienced sell-
ing price reductions and production curtailments at many steel pro-
ducers, particularly in the United States. The United States steel
industry was unfavorably affected by imports of low-priced foreign
steel. Additionally, certain steel producers were forced to file for
bankruptcy protection. The situation improved in the second half of
1999. There is a risk that the Company’s future results of operations
or financial condition could be adversely affected if the steel indus-
try’s problems were to continue. The Harsco Mill Services Segment
provides services at steel mills throughout the world. The future
financial impact on the Company associated with these risks cannot
be estimated.

Research and Development
The Company invested $7.8 million in internal research and develop-
ment programs in 1999, an increase of 11% above 1998. Internal fund-
ing for the Harsco Infrastructure Segment amounted to $3.5 million,
principally for railway maintenance-of-way equipment and services.
Expenditures for the Harsco Mill Services and Harsco Gas and Fluid
Control Segments were $3.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively. 
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Backlog
As of December 31, 1999, the Company’s order backlog, exclusive of
long-term mill services contracts, was $231.6 million compared to
$188.6 million as of December 31, 1998, a 23% increase. The Harsco
Infrastructure Segment order backlog at December 31, 1999 was
$151.6 million, an increase of 24% over the December 31, 1998 back-
log of $122.5 million. This increase principally results from the fourth
quarter 1999 Pandrol Jackson acquisition. The Harsco Gas and Fluid
Control Segment backlog increased approximately 27% to $80.0 mil-
lion from $62.8 million as of December 31, 1998. The increase results
from higher backlog for gas control and containment equipment.
Backlog for scaffolding, shoring and forming services of the Harsco
Infrastructure Segment and roofing granules and slag abrasives of the
Harsco Mill Services Segment are excluded from the backlog
amounts. They are generally not quantifiable due to the nature of the
products and services provided. 

Metal reclamation and mill services contracts have an estimated value of
$3.6 billion at December 31, 1999, an increase of approximately 9% over
the December 31, 1998 amount of $3.3 billion.

Dividend Action
The Company paid four quarterly cash dividends of $.225 per share
in 1999, for an annual rate of $.90. This is an increase of 2.3% from
1998. At the November 1999 meeting, the Board of Directors
increased the dividend 4.4% to an annual rate of $.94 per share. The
Board normally reviews the dividend rate periodically during the year
and annually at its November meeting. There are no material restric-
tions on the payment of dividends.

The Company is proud of its history of paying dividends. The Company
has paid dividends each year since 1939. The February 2000 payment
marked the 199th consecutive quarterly dividend paid at the same or at
an increased rate. During the five-year period ended December 31,
1999, dividends paid were increased five times. In 1999, the dividend
payout rate was 41%. The Company is philosophically committed to
maintaining or increasing the dividend at a sustainable level.

Year 2000 Readiness
The Company has taken steps to assure that its operations are not
adversely impacted by potential Year 2000 computer failures. All
phases of the Company’s Year 2000 readiness process have been com-
pleted for information technology and non-information technology
systems. Those phases included awareness, assessment, prioritization,
remediation or replacement, testing and contingency planning.
Additionally, Year 2000 readiness assessments have been completed of
critical third parties including significant business partners, suppliers,
and major customers. As of December 31, 1999, no mission critical
third parties have indicated that they are not Year 2000 ready.

Through March 2, 2000 the Company has not experienced any mate-
rial Year 2000 failures.

As of December 31, 1999, the Company has incurred approximately
$3.3 million in cumulative Year 2000 readiness costs. The Company
does not expect to incur additional Year 2000 readiness costs unless a
material Year 2000 failure occurs. 

The Company believes that its major Year 2000 risks involve the con-
tinuing Year 2000 readiness and performance of third parties. The
impact of such Year 2000 risks and potential failures on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations cannot be estimated.

The Company has developed contingency plans to be invoked in the
event of a material Year 2000 failure. However, if there is an extended
Year 2000 failure by several third parties or of supporting infrastruc-
tures, there could be a material adverse impact on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.

Year 2000 Statements contained herein about Harsco products and
services are Year 2000 Readiness Disclosures, pursuant to the Year
2000 Information and Readiness Disclosure Act, 15 U. S. C. 1-note.

Forward Looking Statements
The nature of the Company’s operations and the many countries in
which it operates subject it to changing economic, competitive, regula-
tory, and technological conditions, risks, and uncertainties. In accor-
dance with the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, the Company provides the following
cautionary remarks regarding important factors which, among oth-
ers, could cause future results to differ materially from the forward-
looking statements, expectations, and assumptions expressed or
implied herein. These include statements about our management con-
fidence and strategies for performance; expectations for new and
existing products, technologies, and opportunities; and expectations
for market segment and industry growth and earnings.

These factors include, but are not limited to: (1) changes in the world-
wide business environment in which the Company operates, including
import, licensing, and trade restrictions, currency exchange rates,
interest rates, and capital costs; (2) changes in governmental laws and
regulations, including taxes; (3) market and competitive changes,
including market demand and acceptance for new products, services,
and technologies; (4) effects of unstable governments and business
conditions in emerging economies; and (5) other risk factors listed
from time to time in the Company’s SEC reports. The Company does
not intend to update this information and disclaims any legal liability
to the contrary.

Cash Dividend 
Growth Per Share 
(In dollars)
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Five-Year Statistical Summary

(All dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

Income Statement Information
Net sales $ 1,716,688 $ 1,733,458 $ 1,627,478 $ 1,557,643 $ 1,495,466
Income from continuing operations before interest, 

income taxes, and minority interest 169,736 191,901 179,888 166,057 131,019
Income from continuing operations 90,713 107,513 100,400 83,903 61,318
Income from discontinued defense business — — 28,424(a) 35,106 36,059
Gain on disposal of discontinued defense business — — 150,008 — —
Net income 90,713 107,513 278,832 119,009 97,377

Financial Position Information
Working capital $ 182,439 $ 112,619 $ 341,160 $ 214,519 $ 145,254
Total assets 1,659,823 1,623,581 1,477,188 1,324,419 1,310,662
Long-term debt 418,504 309,131 198,898 227,385 179,926
Total debt 455,111 363,738 225,375 253,567 288,673
Depreciation and amortization 135,853 131,381 116,539 109,399 104,863
Capital expenditures 175,248 159,816 143,444 150,294 113,895
Cash provided by operating activities 213,953 189,260 148,541 217,202 258,815
Cash provided (used) by investing activities (194,674) (233,490) 196,545 (153,225) (97,331)
Cash (used) by financing activities (8,928) (134,324) (167,249) (92,944) (128,068)

Ratios
Return on net sales 1 5.3% 6.2% 6.2% 5.4% 4.1%
Return on average equity 2 13.9% 14.3% 15.1% 14.0% 10.7%
Return on average assets 3 10.7% 12.9% 14.3% 13.7% 10.8%
Current ratio 1.4:1 1.2:1 1.9:1 1.7:1 1.4:1
Total debt to total capital 4 41.2% 34.7% 22.4% 27.1% 31.6%

Per Share Information (b)

Diluted – Income from continuing operations $ 2.21 $ 2.34 $ 2.04 $ 1.67 $ 1.20
– Income from discontinued defense business — — .58(a) .70 .71
– Gain on disposal of discontinued defense business — — 3.05 — —
– Net income 2.21 2.34 5.67 2.37 1.91

Book value 16.22 16.22 16.64 13.73 12.49
Cash dividends declared .91 .885 .82 .77 .75

Other Information
Basic average number of shares outstanding (b) 40,882,153 45,568,256 48,754,212 49,894,515 50,504,707
Diluted average number of shares outstanding (b) 41,017,067 45,910,531 49,191,872 50,317,664 50,856,929
Number of employees 15,700 15,300 14,600 14,200 13,200
Backlog (c) $ 231,557 $ 188,594 $ 225,575 $ 211,734 $ 157,129

(a) Includes income through August 1997 (the measurement date) from the discontinued defense business.

(b) Reflects two-for-one stock split to shareholders of record January 15, 1997.

(c) Excludes the estimated value of long-term mill service contracts, which had an estimated value of $3.6 billion at December  31, 1999.

1 “Return on net sales” is calculated by dividing income from continuing operations by net sales.

2 “Return on average equity” is calculated by dividing income from continuing operations by quarterly weighted average equity.

3 “Return on average assets” is calculated by dividing income from continuing operations before interest expense, income taxes, and minority interest by quarterly weighted average assets.

4 “Total debt to total capital” is calculated by dividing the sum of debt (short-term borrowings and long-term debt including current maturities) by the sum of equity and debt.
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Management’s Report on Financial Statements

To the Shareholders of Harsco Corporation:

The financial information in this Annual Report has been prepared
by the management of Harsco Corporation. Management is respon-
sible for the fair presentation of the financial statements of the
Company in accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples and for the objectivity of key underlying assumptions and esti-
mates. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, manage-
ment has necessarily included some amounts which are based on its
best estimates and judgments. The Company’s internal control
framework maintains systems, supported by a code of conduct,
designed to provide reasonable assurance, at reasonable cost, that
its assets and resources are safeguarded against loss from unautho-
rized use or disposition and that transactions are executed and
recorded in accordance with established procedures. These systems
are implemented through clear and accessible written policies 
and procedures, employee training, and appropriate delegation of
authority and segregation of responsibilities. These systems of

internal control are reviewed, modified, and improved as changes
occur in business conditions and operations and as a result of sug-
gestions from managers, internal auditors, and independent
accountants. These systems are the responsibility of the manage-
ment of the Company.

The independent accountants are engaged to perform an audit of
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Their report appears below.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is comprised entire-
ly of individuals who are not employees of the Company. This
Committee meets periodically and privately with the independent
accountants, with the internal auditors, and with the management of
the Company to review matters relating to the quality of the finan-
cial reporting, the internal control framework, and the scope and
results of audit examinations.

Derek C. Hathaway Salvatore D. Fazzolari

Chairman and Senior Vice President, 

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

and Treasurer

Report of Independent Accountants

To the Shareholders of Harsco Corporation: 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and
the related consolidated statements of income, of shareholders’ equi-
ty, of comprehensive income and of cash flows present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Harsco Corporation and
Subsidiary Companies at December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 1999, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s man-
agement; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these finan-

cial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of
these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States, which require that we plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by man-
agement, and evaluating the overall financial statement presenta-
tion. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the
opinion expressed above.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 

January 27, 2000
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
Harsco Corporation
(In thousands, except share amounts)
December 31 1999 1998

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 51,266 $ 41,562
Accounts receivable, net 331,123 310,935
Inventories 172,198 175,804
Other current assets 58,368 59,140

Total current assets 612,955 587,441

Property, plant and equipment, net 671,546 626,194
Cost in excess of net assets of businesses acquired, net 258,698 273,708
Other assets 116,624 136,238

Total assets $1,659,823 $1,623,581

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings $ 32,014 $ 46,766
Current maturities of long-term debt 4,593 7,841
Accounts payable 132,394 142,681
Accrued compensation 46,615 43,938
Income taxes 44,154 42,908
Dividends payable 9,417 9,506
Other current liabilities 161,329 181,182

Total current liabilities 430,516 474,822

Long-term debt 418,504 309,131
Deferred income taxes 52,932 55,195
Insurance liabilities 37,097 30,019
Other liabilities 70,653 69,115

Total liabilities 1,009,702 938,282

Commitments and Contingencies

Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, Series A junior participating cumulative preferred stock — —
Common stock, par value $1.25, issued 66,221,544 and 66,075,380 

shares as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively 82,777 82,594
Additional paid-in capital 88,101 85,384
Accumulated other comprehensive income (expense) (80,538) (55,045)
Retained earnings 1,155,586 1,101,828

1,245,926 1,214,761
Treasury stock, at cost (26,149,759 and 23,825,458 shares, respectively) (595,805) (529,462)

Total shareholders’ equity 650,121 685,299

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $1,659,823 $1,623,581

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Income
Harsco Corporation

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Years ended December 31 1999 1998 1997

Revenues
Service sales $ 864,035 $ 866,404 $ 782,406
Product sales 852,653 867,054 845,072
Other 4,123 1,936 1,643

Total revenues 1,720,811 1,735,394 1,629,121

Costs and expenses
Cost of services sold 666,560 666,806 584,290
Cost of products sold 662,972 660,536 645,044
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 207,765 213,438 211,231
Research and development expenses 7,759 6,977 6,090
Other (income) and expenses 6,019 (4,264) 2,578

Total costs and expenses 1,551,075 1,543,493 1,449,233

Income from continuing operations before
interest, income taxes, and minority interest 169,736 191,901 179,888

Interest income 4,662 8,378 8,464
Interest expense (26,968) (20,504) (16,741)

Income from continuing operations before
income taxes and minority interest 147,430 179,775 171,611

Provision for income taxes 51,599 67,361 65,213

Income from continuing operations before minority interest 95,831 112,414 106,398

Minority interest in net income 5,118 4,901 5,998

Income from continuing operations 90,713 107,513 100,400

Discontinued operations:
Equity in income of defense business (net of income taxes of $14,082) — — 28,424
Gain on disposal of defense business (net of income taxes of $100,006) — — 150,008

Net income $ 90,713 $ 107,513 $ 278,832

Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations $ 2.22 $ 2.36 $ 2.06
Income from discontinued operations — — .58
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations — — 3.08

Basic earnings per common share $ 2.22 $ 2.36 $ 5.72

Average shares of common stock outstanding 40,882 45,568 48,754

Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations $ 2.21 $ 2.34 $ 2.04
Income from discontinued operations — — .58
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations — — 3.05

Diluted earnings per common share $ 2.21 $ 2.34 $ 5.67

Diluted average shares of common stock outstanding 41,017 45,911 49,192

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Harsco Corporation 

(In thousands)
Years ended December 31 1999 1998 1997

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 90,713 $ 107,513 $ 278,832
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by 

operating activities:
Depreciation 122,777 119,044 107,350
Amortization 13,076 12,337 9,189
Gain on disposal of defense business — — (250,014)
Equity in income of unconsolidated entities (3,004) (1,354) (43,549)
Dividends or distributions from unconsolidated entities 3,369 1,494 49,142
Deferred income taxes 193 3,893 (8,175)
Other (income) and expenses 6,019 24,843 4,198
Gain on sale of non-defense businesses — (29,107) (1,620)
Other, net 5,205 5,260 (8,192)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions and 

dispositions of businesses:
Accounts receivable (28,157) (15,718) (1,812)
Inventories 15,934 (24,991) (13,042)
Accounts payable (1,238) 8,379 4,840
Disbursements related to discontinued defense business (14,605) (13,642) (951)
Other assets and liabilities 3,671 (8,691) 22,345

Net cash provided by operating activities (1) 213,953 189,260 148,541

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (175,248) (159,816) (143,444)
Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired* (48,907) (158,291) (8,508)
Proceeds from sale of businesses 17,718 39,500 345,189
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 14,381 13,033 14,433
Investments available-for-sale: Purchases — — (39,346)

Maturities — 40,000 —
Investments held-to-maturity: Purchases — — (42,241)

Maturities — 4,010 71,469
Other investing activities (2,618) (11,926) (1,007)

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities (194,674) (233,490) 196,545

Cash flows from financing activities
Short-term borrowings, net (10,546) 16,131 8,291
Current maturities and long-term debt: Additions 214,133 172,709 61,310

Reductions (103,410) (116,163) (88,523)
Cash dividends paid on common stock (37,022) (40,287) (39,120)
Common stock issued-options 2,272 3,885 5,939
Common stock acquired for treasury (71,860) (169,258) (113,161)
Other financing activities (2,495) (1,341) (1,985)

Net cash (used) by financing activities (8,928) (134,324) (167,249)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (647) (1,449) (2,134)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 9,704 (180,003) 175,703
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 41,562 221,565 45,862

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 51,266 $ 41,562 $ 221,565

*Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired
Working capital, other than cash $ 18,078 $ 11,159 $ 2,807
Property, plant and equipment (36,417) (89,182) (833)
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net (30,568) (80,268) (10,482)

Net cash used to acquire businesses $ (48,907) $ (158,291) $ (8,508)

(1) Cash provided by operating activities for 1997 includes approximately $100 million of income taxes paid related to the gain on the disposal of the defense business, whereas the
pre-tax cash proceeds are included under investing activities.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity
Harsco Corporation

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Expense)

Additional Net Unrealized
Common Stock Paid-in Investment Pension Retained

(In thousands, except share amounts) Issued Treasury Capital Translation Gains/(Losses) Liability Total Earnings

Balances, January 1, 1997 $81,823 $(238,065) $69,151 $(25,476) $ — $ (619) $(26,095) $ 794,473

Net income 278,832
Cash dividends declared, $.82 per share (39,535)
Translation adjustments (24,201) (24,201)
Unrealized investment (losses), net of 

$18 deferred income taxes (28) (28)
Pension liability adjustments, net of 

$412 deferred income taxes (650) (650)
Acquired during the year, 3,080,642 shares (125,841) 34
Stock options exercised, 395,885 shares 495 9,299
Restricted stock, net, 57,487 shares 1,117 846
Other, 1,048 shares 17 30

Balances, December 31, 1997 82,318 (362,772) 79,360 (49,677) (28) (1,269) (50,974) 1,033,770

Net income 107,513
Cash dividends declared, $.885 per share (39,455)
Translation adjustments (1,714) (1,714)
Unrealized investment gains, net of 

($18) deferred income taxes 28 28
Pension liability adjustments, net of 

$1,544 deferred income taxes (2,385) (2,385)
Acquired during the year, 4,989,483 shares (168,405)
Stock options exercised, 221,293 shares 276 5,913
Restricted stock, net, 40,324 shares 1,649 110
Other, 1,658 shares 66 1

Balances, December 31, 1998 82,594 (529,462) 85,384 (51,391) — (3,654) (55,045) 1,101,828

Net income 90,713
Cash dividends declared, $.91 per share (36,955)
Translation adjustments (27,273) (27,273)
Pension liability adjustments, net of 

($1,277) deferred income taxes 1,780 1,780
Acquired during the year, 2,326,798 shares (66,441)
Stock options exercised, 146,164 shares 183 2,740
Other, 2,497 shares 98 (23)

Balances, December 31, 1999 $82,777 $(595,805) $88,101 $(78,664) $ — $(1,874) $(80,538) $1,155,586

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Harsco Corporation

(In thousands)
Years ended December 31 1999 1998 1997

Net Income $ 90,713 $ 107,513 $ 278,832

Other comprehensive income (expense):
Foreign currency translation adjustments (27,273) (1,714) (24,201)
Unrealized investment gains (losses), net of deferred income taxes — 28 (28)
Pension liability adjustments, net of deferred income taxes 1,780 (2,385) (650)

Other comprehensive income (expense) (25,493) (4,071) (24,879)

Total comprehensive income $ 65,220 $ 103,442 $ 253,953

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Harsco
Corporation and its majority-owned subsidiaries (“Company”).
Investments in unconsolidated entities (all of which are 20-50%
owned) are accounted for under the equity method. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits,
and short-term investments which are highly liquid in nature and
have an original maturity of three months or less.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Inventories in
the United States are accounted for using principally the last-in, first-
out (LIFO) method. Other inventories are accounted for using the
first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost methods.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated
over the estimated useful lives of the assets using principally the
straight-line method. When property is retired from service, generally
the cost of the retirement is charged to the allowance for depreciation
to the extent of the accumulated depreciation, and the balance is
charged to income. Long-lived assets to be disposed are not depreciated
while they are held for disposal.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist principally of cost in excess of net assets of
businesses acquired, which is amortized on a straight line basis over a
period not to exceed 30 years. Accumulated amortization was $74.9
and $58.6 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets, including cost in excess of net assets of businesses
acquired and other intangible assets, used in the Company’s opera-
tions are reviewed for impairment when events and circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
The Company’s policy is to record an impairment loss when it is
determined that the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the sum of
the expected undiscounted future cash flows resulting from use of the
asset and its eventual disposition. Impairment losses are measured as
the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair
value. Long-lived assets to be disposed are reported at the lower of
the carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized for product sales generally when title and risk
of loss transfer. Service sales are recognized over the contractual peri-
od or as services are performed.

Income Taxes

United States federal and state income taxes and non-U.S. income
taxes are provided currently on the undistributed earnings of interna-
tional subsidiaries and unconsolidated affiliated entities, giving recog-
nition to current tax rates and applicable foreign tax credits, except
when management has specific plans for reinvestment of undistributed
earnings which will result in the indefinite postponement of their remit-
tance. Deferred taxes are provided using the asset and liability method
for temporary differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.

Accrued Insurance and Loss Reserves

The Company retains a significant portion of the risk for workers’
compensation, automobile, general, and product liability losses.
Reserves have been recorded which reflect the undiscounted estimat-
ed liabilities including claims incurred but not reported. Changes in
the estimates of the reserves are included in net income in the period
determined. Amounts estimated to be paid within one year have been
classified as Other current liabilities, with the remainder included in
Insurance liabilities.

Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of the Company’s subsidiaries outside the
United States, except for those subsidiaries located in highly inflation-
ary economies, are principally measured using the local currency as
the functional currency. Assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are
translated at the exchange rates as of the balance sheet date. Resulting
translation adjustments are recorded in the cumulative translation
adjustment, a separate component of Other comprehensive income
(expense). Income and expense items are translated at average month-
ly exchange rates. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions
are included in net income. For subsidiaries operating in highly infla-
tionary economies, gains and losses on foreign currency transactions
and balance sheet translation adjustments are included in net income.

Effective January 1997, the Company’s operations in Mexico were
accounted for as a highly inflationary economy since the three-year
cumulative rate of inflation at December 31, 1996 exceeded 100%.
The functional currency for the Company’s operations in Mexico was
the U.S. dollar for 1997 and 1998. Effective January 1999, the three-
year cumulative rate of inflation fell below 100%. As of January 1,
1999, the Company measures the financial statements of its Mexican
entities using the Mexican new peso as the functional currency.

Effective January 1998, the Company’s operations in Brazil were no
longer accounted for as a highly inflationary economy, because the
three-year cumulative rate of inflation fell below 100%. The
Company measures the financial statements of its Brazilian entities
using the Brazilian real as the functional currency.

Financial Instruments and Hedging

The Company has subsidiaries principally operating in North America,
South America, Europe, and Asia-Pacific. These operations are
exposed to fluctuations in related foreign currencies in the normal
course of business. The Company seeks to reduce exposure to foreign
currency fluctuations, through the use of forward exchange contracts.
The Company does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading
purposes, and it is the Company’s policy to prohibit the use of
derivatives for speculative purposes. The Company has a Foreign
Currency Risk Management Committee that meets periodically to
monitor foreign currency risks.

The Company executes forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge
transactions of its non-U.S. subsidiaries for firm purchase commit-
ments and for export sales denominated in foreign currencies. These
contracts generally are for 90 to 180 days or less. For those contracts
that hedge an identifiable transaction, gains or losses are deferred
and accounted for as part of the underlying transaction. The cash
flows from these contracts are classified consistent with the cash flows
from the transaction being hedged. The Company also enters into 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Harsco Corporation
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

forward foreign exchange contracts for intercompany foreign curren-
cy commitments. These foreign exchange contracts do not qualify as
hedges. Therefore, gains and losses are recognized in income based on
fair market value.

Options for Common Stock

The Company uses the intrinsic value based method to account for
options granted for the purchase of common stock. No compensation
expense is recognized on the grant date, since at that date, the option
price equals the market price of the underlying common stock. The
Company discloses the pro-forma effect of accounting for stock
options under the fair value method.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated using the average shares of
common stock outstanding, while diluted earnings per share reflects
the potential dilution that could occur if stock options were exercised.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make esti-
mates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years’ amounts to
conform with current year classifications.

New Financial Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS
No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (SFAS 133), with an amended effective date for fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2000. SFAS 133 requires that an entity rec-
ognize on its balance sheet all derivative instruments as either assets
or liabilities at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of deriva-
tives are recorded each period in current earnings or Other compre-
hensive income, depending on whether a derivative is designated as
part of a hedge transaction, and, if it is, the type of hedge transaction.
The Company will adopt SFAS 133 as of January 1, 2001. Due to the
Company’s limited use of derivative instruments, SFAS 133 is not
expected to have a material effect on the financial position or results
of operations of the Company.

2. Discontinued Defense Business
On August 25, 1997, the Company and FMC Corporation signed an
agreement to sell United Defense, L.P. for $850 million, and the sale
was completed on October 6, 1997. Prior to the sale, FMC had been
the managing general partner and 60% owner of United Defense,
L.P., while the Company owned the balance of 40% as the limited
partner. United Defense supplies ground combat and naval weapons
systems for the U.S. and military customers worldwide.

On the Consolidated Statement of Income under Discontinued
Operations, “Equity in income of defense business” includes equity
income through August 1997 (the measurement date) from the
Company’s 40% interest in United Defense, L.P. The sale resulted in

pre-tax cash proceeds to the Company in 1997 of $344 million and
resulted in an after tax gain on the sale of $150 million or $3.08 per
share after taking into account certain retained liabilities from the
partnership and estimated post-closing net worth adjustments, as well
as pre-partnership formation contingencies and other defense busi-
ness contingencies.

On the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for 1997, equity in
income of the defense business and distributions from the defense
business through the measurement date are included in “Equity in
income of unconsolidated entities” and “Dividends or distributions
from unconsolidated entities”, respectively. Disbursements related to
the discontinued defense business, principally legal fees and settle-
ments, are shown separately on the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows for 1997, 1998, and 1999.

3. Acquisitions and Dispositions
Acquisitions

In October 1999, the Company acquired Charter plc’s Pandrol
Jackson railway track maintenance business. The transaction was
completed for approximately $48 million in cash plus assumption of
liabilities, for a total consideration of approximately $65 million.
Pandrol Jackson manufactures and markets worldwide a wide range
of equipment and services used in railway track maintenance. In
December 1999, the Company completed the sale of the railway
switch, crossing and transit grinding business obtained as part of the
Pandrol Jackson railway maintenance acquisition. This business with
annual sales of approximately $6 million was divested in accordance
with an agreement with the Department of Justice as a condition to
the acquisition of Pandrol Jackson.

In July 1999, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed cer-
tain liabilities of Structural Accessories, Inc. The total consideration
was approximately $2 million. Structural Accessories, Inc. manufac-
tures and sells bridge bearings and expansion joints.

In February 1999, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed
certain liabilities of Natural Gas Vehicle Systems, Inc. Total consider-
ation was approximately $3 million. Natural Gas Vehicle Systems,
Inc. manufactures cylinders used in vehicles which use natural gas.

In October 1998, the Company acquired Superior Valve Company
from Amcast Industrial Corporation. Superior Valve designs, manu-
factures, and sells high pressure, precision valves for a range of com-
mercial and industrial applications.

In June 1998, the Company acquired Chemi-Trol Chemical Co. for
approximately $46 million. Chemi-Trol’s principal business is the pro-
duction and distribution of steel pressure tanks for the storage of
propane gas and anhydrous ammonia.

In April 1998, the Company acquired Faber Prest Plc for approxi-
mately $98 million. Faber Prest is a UK-based provider of mill servic-
es to worldwide steel producers and integrated logistics services to the
steel industry and other market sectors.

In February 1998, the Company acquired EFI Corporation (EFIC)
from Racal Electronics Plc for approximately $7.2 million. EFIC
produces lightweight composite cylinders used extensively in fire-
fighter breathing apparatus as well as other industrial and commer-
cial applications.
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3. Acquisitions and Dispositions (continued)

All acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method
of accounting with cost in excess of net assets of businesses acquired
totaling $9.4 million in 1999 and $94.6 million in 1998. Results of
operations are included in income since the dates of acquisition.

The following unaudited pro-forma consolidated net sales, net income,
and earnings per share data are presented as if the above businesses
had been acquired at the beginning of the periods presented.

(In millions, except per share data)
Pro-forma Information for Years Ended December 31 1999 1998

Net sales $1,767 $1,929
Net income 90 97
Basic earnings per share 2.20 2.13
Diluted earnings per share 2.19 2.12

The unaudited pro-forma information is not necessarily indicative of
the results of operations that would have occurred had the purchases
been made at the beginning of the periods presented, or of the future
results of the combined operations.

The pro-forma information includes the actual results of the acquired
businesses prior to the acquisition dates. These results do not reflect
the effect of reorganization actions, synergies, cost reductions and
other benefits resulting from the combinations. Additionally, the pro-
forma information reflects amortization of the cost in excess of net
assets acquired and interest expense on assumed borrowings for
acquisitions for the full periods presented.

Dispositions

In October 1998, the Company completed the sale of Nutter
Engineering to the Sulzer Chemtech division of Swiss-based Sulzer
Technology Corporation. Nutter had sales of approximately $25 mil-
lion and $24 million in 1998 and 1997, respectively.

The sale of HydroServ SAS was completed in December 1998. 
The Company completed the sales of Astralloy Wear Technology in 
March 1999; the pavement marking and vegetation control business of
Chemi-Trol in August 1999; and the Manchester truck dealership in
September 1999. Additionally, the Company plans to dispose of its
investments in Bio-Oxidation Services Inc., Gunness Wharf Limited
and Flixborough Wharf Limited.

4. Accounts Receivable and Inventories
Accounts receivable are net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of
$13.3 million and $13.6 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998,
respectively.

Inventories consist of: 

(In thousands) 1999 1998

Finished goods $ 37,715 $ 45,259
Work-in-process 37,198 36,060
Raw materials and purchased parts 76,911 71,576
Stores and supplies 20,374 22,909

$172,198 $175,804

Valued at lower of cost or market:
LIFO basis $132,366 $129,708
FIFO basis 16,483 28,473
Average cost basis 23,349 17,623

$172,198 $175,804

Inventories valued on the LIFO basis at December 31, 1999 and 1998
were approximately $28.4 million and $32.5 million, respectively, less
than the amounts of such inventories valued at current costs. 

As a result of reducing certain inventory quantities valued on the
LIFO basis, net income increased from that which would have been
recorded under the FIFO basis of valuation, by $1.1 million, $0.2 mil-
lion and $0.1 million in 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively.

5. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consists of:

(In thousands) 1999 1998

Land and improvements $ 28,847 $ 31,048
Buildings and improvements 147,742 147,291
Machinery and equipment 1,243,437 1,196,223
Uncompleted construction 79,797 63,540

1,499,823 1,438,102
Less accumulated depreciation 828,277 811,908

$ 671,546 $ 626,194

The estimated useful lives of different types of assets are generally:

Land improvements 10 years
Buildings and improvements 10 to 50 years
Certain plant, buildings and installations

(Principally Mill Services Segment) 3 to 15 years
Machinery and equipment 3 to 20 years

6. Debt and Credit Agreements
The Company has a $400 million Five-Year Competitive Advance and
Revolving Credit Facility (“credit facility”) maturing in July 2001.
Borrowings under this agreement are available in U.S. dollars or
Eurocurrencies and the credit facility serves as back-up to the
Company’s U. S. commercial paper program. Interest rates are either
negotiated, based upon the U.S. federal funds interbank market,
prime, or based upon the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)
plus a margin. The Company pays a facility fee (0.08% per annum as
of December 31, 1999) that varies based upon its credit ratings. At
December 31, 1999 and 1998, there were no borrowings outstanding.

The Company can also issue up to $400 million of short-term notes in
the U.S. commercial paper market. In addition, the Company has a 
three billion Belgian franc commercial paper program (approximately
U.S. $75 million at December 31, 1999) which is used to fund the
Company’s international operations. The Company limits the aggre-
gate commercial paper and credit facility borrowings at any one time
to a maximum of $400 million. Commercial paper interest rates,
which are based on market conditions, have been lower than on com-
parable borrowings under the credit facility. At December 31, 1999
and 1998, $233.7 million and $108.8 million of commercial paper was
outstanding, respectively. Commercial paper is classified as long-term
debt at December 31, 1999 and 1998, because the Company has the
ability and intent to refinance it on a long-term basis through existing
long-term credit facilities.
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6. Debt and Credit Agreements (Continued)

Short-term debt amounted to $32.0 million and $46.8 million at
December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively. The weighted average
interest rate for short-term borrowings at December 31, 1999 and
1998 was 4.6% and 7.9%, respectively.

Long-term debt consists of: 

(In thousands) 1999 1998

6.0% notes due September 15, 2003 $150,000 $150,000
Commercial paper borrowings, with a 

weighted average interest rate of  
5.8% as of December 31, 1999 233,746 108,784

Faber Prest loan notes due October 31, 2008 
with interest based on Sterling LIBOR 
minus .75% (5.4% at December 31, 1999) 16,285 19,222

Industrial development bonds, payable in 
varying amounts from 2001 to 2005 
with a weighted average interest rate of 
6.4% as of December 31, 1999 11,400 11,400

Other financing payable in varying amounts 
to 2005 with a weighted average interest 
rate of 7.3% as of December 31, 1999 11,666 27,566

423,097 316,972
Less current maturities 4,593 7,841

$418,504 $309,131

The credit facility and certain notes payable agreements contain
covenants restricting, among other things, the amount of debt as
defined in the agreement that can be issued. At December 31, 1999,
the Company was in compliance with these covenants.

The maturities of long-term debt for the four years following
December 31, 2000, are: 

(In thousands)

2001 $242,927
2002 2,049
2003 150,967
2004 4,778

Cash payments for interest on all debt were (in millions) $25.0, $20.0,
and $16.3 in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. Capitalized interest
was $893 thousand, $10 thousand, and zero in 1999, 1998, and 1997,
respectively.

The Company has on file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, a Form S-3 shelf registration for the possible issuance of
up to an additional $200 million of new debt securities, preferred
stock, or common stock.

7. Leases
The Company leases certain property and equipment under non-
cancelable operating leases. Rental expense under such operating
leases was (in millions) $16.9, $17.6, and $13.5 in 1999, 1998 and
1997, respectively.

Future minimum payments under operating leases with noncancelable
terms are:

(In thousands)

2000 $15,703
2001 12,534
2002 9,399
2003 7,268
2004 13,309
After 2004 16,598

8. Employee Benefit Plans
Pension Benefits

The Company has pension and profit sharing retirement plans, most
of which are noncontributory, covering substantially all of its employ-
ees. The benefits for salaried employees generally are based on years
of service and the employee’s level of compensation during specified
periods of employment. Plans covering hourly employees generally
provide benefits of stated amounts for each year of service. The multi-
employer plans in which the Company participates provide benefits to
certain unionized employees. The Company’s funding policy for qual-
ified plans is consistent with statutory regulations and customarily
equals the amount deducted for income tax purposes. The Company’s
policy is to amortize prior service costs over the average future service
period of active plan participants.

(In thousands) 1999 1998 1997

Pension Expense

Defined benefit plans:
Service cost $ 15,882 $ 13,785 $ 9,519
Interest cost 23,048 21,367 15,129
Expected return on 

plan assets (36,848) (39,859) (27,604)
Recognized prior service 

costs 2,052 1,307 1,368
Recognized (gains) or losses 278 (4,034) (3,517)
Amortization of transition 

asset (2,447) (2,453) (2,457)
Curtailment (gains) or 

losses — 542 (5,468)

1,965 (9,345) (13,030)
Multi-employer plans 4,922 4,054 4,457
Defined contribution plans 4,466 6,043 4,131

Pension (income) expense $ 11,353 $ 752 $ (4,442)

In 1997, the curtailment gain of $5.5 million was the result of a sizable
reduction in the number of employees under a plan related to a dis-
continued facility. This gain, along with certain costs, was recorded
under Other (income) and expenses in the Consolidated Statement of
Income.
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8. Employee Benefit Plans (continued)

The change in the financial status of the pension plans and amounts
recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 1999
and 1998 are:

Pension Benefits (In thousands) 1999 1998

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $371,454 $220,428
Service cost 15,882 13,785
Interest cost 23,048 21,367
Plan participants’ contributions 1,887 1,452
Amendments 5,416 11,048
Actuarial (gain) loss (42,466) (3,824)
Curtailment (gain) loss — 542
Benefits paid (15,229) (16,126)
Obligations of acquired companies 8,574 122,388
Effect of foreign currency (5,598) 394

Benefit obligation at end of year $362,968 $371,454

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at 

beginning of year $458,241 $335,106
Actual return on plan assets 67,692 (16,342)
Employer contributions 1,425 2,370
Plan participants’ contributions 1,887 1,452
Benefits paid (15,103) (16,007)
Plan assets of acquired companies 8,057 151,346
Effect of foreign currency (6,270) 316

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $515,929 $458,241

Funded status
Funded status at end of year $152,961 $ 86,787
Unrecognized net (gain) loss (92,817) (19,683)
Unrecognized transition (asset) obligation (13,222) (15,657)
Unrecognized prior service cost 25,534 22,446

Net amount recognized $ 72,456 $ 73,893

Amounts recognized in the consolidated 
balance sheet consist of:

Prepaid benefit cost $ 85,914 $ 84,251
Accrued benefit liability (18,907) (19,576)
Intangible asset 2,588 3,297
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,861 5,921

Net amount recognized $ 72,456 $ 73,893

Plan assets include equity and fixed-income securities. At December
31, 1999 and 1998, 732,640 shares of the Company’s common stock
with a fair market value of $23.3 million and $22.3 million, respec-
tively, are included in plan assets. Dividends paid on such stock
amounted to $0.7 million and $0.6 million in 1999 and 1998.

The actuarial assumptions used for the defined benefit pension plans,
including international plans, are:

1999 1998 1997

Weighted average assumed 
discount rates 6.9% 6.3% 7.4%

Weighted average expected 
long-term rates of
return on plan assets 8.4% 8.2% 9.1%

Rates of compensation increase 4.2% 4.4% 4.5%

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and
fair value of plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit
obligations in excess of plan assets were $33.6 million, $32.4 million,
and $15.7 million, respectively, as of December 31, 1999, and $32.1
million, $30.1 million, and $11.6 million, respectively, as of December
31, 1998.

Postretirement Benefits

The Company has postretirement life insurance benefits for a majority
of employees, and postretirement health care benefits for a limited
number of employees mainly under plans related to acquired compa-
nies. The cost of life insurance and health care benefits are accrued
for current and future retirees and are recognized as determined
under the projected unit credit actuarial method. Under this method,
the Company’s obligation for postretirement benefits is to be fully
accrued by the date employees attain full eligibility for such benefits.
The Company’s postretirement health care and life insurance plans
are unfunded.

The postretirement benefit expense (health care and life insurance)
was $0.4 million in 1999, $0.3 million in 1998, and $0.2 million in
1997. The components of these expenses are not shown separately as
they are not material.

The changes in the postretirement benefit liability recorded in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet are:

Postretirement Benefits (In thousands) 1999 1998

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 6,421 $ 6,220
Service cost 129 107
Interest cost 466 431
Actuarial loss (gain) 319 49
Benefits paid (325) (386)
Obligation of acquired company 3,294 —

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 10,304 $ 6,421

Funded status
Funded status at end of year $(10,304) $(6,421)
Unrecognized prior service cost (39) (42)
Unrecognized net actuarial (gain) (1,328) (1,861)

Net amount recognized as accrued 
benefit liability $(11,671) $(8,324)
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8. Employee Benefit Plans (continued)

The actuarial assumptions used for postretirement benefit plans are:

(Dollars in thousands) 1999 1998 1997

Assumed discount rate 7.75% 6.75% 7.25%
Health care cost trend rate 7.50% 8.30% 8.70%
Decreasing to ultimate rate 6.50% 5.50% 5.50%
Effect of one percent increase in

health care cost trend rate:
On cost components $ 21 $ 21 $ 47
On accumulated benefit 

obligation $415 $185 $192

For 1999, a one percent decrease in the health care cost trend rate
would decrease the cost component by $19 thousand and decrease the
accumulated benefit obligation by $405 thousand.

It is anticipated that the health care cost trend rate will decrease from
7.5% in 2000 to 6.5% in the year 2003.

Savings Plan

The Company has a 401(k) savings plan which covers substantially all
U.S. employees with the exception of employees represented by a col-
lective bargaining agreement, unless the agreement expressly provides
otherwise. Employee contributions are generally determined as a per-
centage of covered employee’s compensation. The expense for contri-
butions to the plan by the Company was (in millions) $4.4, $4.8, and
$4.5 for 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively.

Executive Incentive Compensation Plan

Under the 1995 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan, the
Management Development and Compensation Committee awarded
60% of the value of any earned annual incentive compensation award
to be paid to participants in the form of cash and 40% in the form of
restricted shares of the Company’s common stock. Upon the request
of the participant, the Committee was authorized to make the incen-
tive award payable all in cash, subject to a 25% reduction in the total
amount of the award. Awards were made in February of the following
year. The Company accrued amounts based on performance reflect-
ing the value of cash and common stock which was anticipated to be
earned for the year. Compensation expense relating to these awards
was (in millions) $3.8, $3.7, and $5.1 in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respec-
tively.

Effective January 1, 1999 the restricted stock portion of the compen-
sation plan was discontinued and the terms of the plan were amended
to provide for payment of the incentive compensation all in cash. On
January 6, 1999 the Company repurchased from the participants, at
the original award value, the restricted shares awarded in 1998. For
all other shares, the restrictions were removed effective January 6,
1999.

9. Income Taxes
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority
interest in the Consolidated Statement of Income consists of:

(In thousands) 1999 1998 1997

United States $ 78,689 $121,091 $ 93,386
International 68,741 58,684 78,225

$147,430 $179,775 $171,611

Provision for income taxes:
Currently payable:

Federal $ 22,474 $ 37,297 $ 21,627
State 1,743 2,835 4,309
International 25,203 23,468 30,538

49,420 63,600 56,474
Deferred federal 

and state 3,890 6,552 9,426
Deferred international (1,711) (2,791) (687)

$ 51,599 $ 67,361 $ 65,213

Cash payments for income taxes were (in millions) $50.7, $38.8, and
$167.0, for 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively. Approximately $5.4
million of the taxes paid in 1998 and $100.0 million of the taxes paid
in 1997 are related to the gain on the disposal of the defense business.

The following is a reconciliation of the normal expected statutory U.S.
federal income tax rate to the effective rate as a percentage of Income
from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interest
as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Income:

1999 1998 1997

U.S. federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal

income tax benefit 1.6 1.6 2.1
Export sales corporation benefit (.5) (.6) (.4)
Losses for which no tax benefit

was recorded .3 1.3 .4
Difference in effective tax rates 

on international earnings 
and remittances (1.9) (1.3) (.2)

Nondeductible acquisition costs 2.1 2.0 1.8
Other, net (1.6) (.5) (.7)

Effective income tax rate 35.0% 37.5% 38.0%
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9. Income Taxes (continued)

The tax effects of the primary temporary differences giving rise to the
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities for the years ended
December 31, 1999 and 1998 are:

(In thousands) 1999 1998

Deferred income taxes Asset Liability Asset Liability

Depreciation $ — $36,580 $ — $42,284
Expense accruals 34,975 — 43,015 —
Inventories 5,294 — 3,783 —
Provision for receivables 3,867 — 2,986 —
Postretirement benefits 4,221 — 3,235 —
Deferred revenue — 4,196 — 4,447
Unrelieved foreign 

tax losses 6,694 — 3,729 —
Unrelieved domestic 

tax losses 2,424 — 3,079 —
Pensions — 22,923 — 18,917
Other — 1,913 — 2,120

57,475 65,612 59,827 67,768
Valuation allowance (4,045) — (6,293) —

Total deferred 
income taxes $53,430 $65,612 $ 53,534 $67,768

At December 31, 1999 and 1998, Other current assets included
deferred income tax benefits of $35.0 million and $37.2 million,
respectively.

At December 31, 1999, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries had
total available net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) of approxi-
mately $27.8 million, of which approximately $17.9 million may be
carried forward indefinitely and $9.9 million have varying expiration
dates. Included in the total are $8.7 million of preacquisition NOLs.

During 1999 and 1998, $2.3 million and $4.4 million, respectively, of
preacquisition NOLs were utilized by the Company, resulting in tax
benefits of $0.8 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

The valuation allowance of $4.0 million and $6.3 million at December
31, 1999 and 1998, respectively, relates principally to cumulative
unrelieved tax losses which are uncertain as to realizability. To the
extent that the preacquisition NOLs are utilized in the future and the
associated valuation allowance reduced, the tax benefit will be allocat-
ed to reduce the cost in excess of net assets of businesses acquired.

The change in the valuation allowances for 1999 and 1998 results
primarily from the utilization of international tax loss carryforwards
and the release of valuation allowances in certain international juris-
dictions based on the Company’s reevaluation of the realizability of
future benefits. The release of valuation allowances in certain juris-
dictions was allocated to reduce the cost in excess of net assets of
businesses acquired by $0.3 million in 1999. There was no reduction
in 1998.

10. Commitments and Contingencies
Discontinued Defense Business – Contingencies

Federal Excise Tax and Other Matters Related to the Five-Ton Truck
Contract
In 1995, the Company, the United States Army (“Army”), and the
United States Department of Justice concluded a settlement of
Harsco’s previously reported claims against the Army relating to
Federal Excise Tax (“FET”) arising under a completed 1986 contract
for the sale of five-ton trucks to the Army. On September 27, 1995,
the Army paid the Company $49 million in accordance with the settle-
ment terms. The Company released the Army from any further liabil-
ity for those claims, and the Department of Justice released the
Company from a threatened action for damages and civil penalties
based on an investigation conducted by the Department’s Commercial
Litigation Branch that had been pending for several years. 

The settlement preserves the rights of the parties to assert claims and
defenses under the Internal Revenue Code, and rights of the Army
and the Company to claim certain amounts that may be owed by
either party to reconcile possible underpayments or overpayments on
the truck contract as part of the formal contract close-out process.

The settlement does not resolve the claim by the Internal Revenue
Service (“IRS”) that, contrary to the Company’s position, certain
cargo truck models sold by the Company should be considered to
have gross vehicle weights in excess of the 33,000 pound threshold
under FET law, are not entitled to an exemption from FET under any
other theory, and therefore are taxable. In 1999, the IRS assessed an
increase in FET of $30.4 million plus penalties of $9.3 million and
applicable interest currently estimated to be $45.5 million. In October
1999, the Company posted an $80 million bond required as security
by the IRS. This increase in FET takes into account offsetting credits
of $9.2 million, based on a partial allowance of the Company’s $31.9
million claim that certain truck components are exempt from FET.
The IRS disallowed in full the Company’s additional claim that it is
entitled to the entire $52 million of FET (plus applicable interest cur-
rently estimated by the Company to be $41.7 million) the Company
has paid on the five-ton trucks, on the grounds that such trucks quali-
fy for the FET exemption applicable to certain vehicles specially
designed for the primary function of off-highway transportation. In
the event that the Company ultimately receives from the IRS a refund
of tax (including applicable interest) with respect to which the
Company has already received reimbursement from the Army, the
refund would be allocated between the Company and the Army. The
Company plans to vigorously contest the IRS assessment in the U.S.
Court of Federal Claims. Although there is risk of an adverse out-
come, both the Company and the Army believe that the cargo trucks
are not taxable. No recognition has been given in the accompanying
financial statements for the Company’s claims with the IRS.

The settlement agreement with the Army preserves the Company’s
right to seek reimbursement of after-imposed tax from the Army in
the event that the cargo trucks are determined to be taxable, but the
agreement limits the reimbursement to a maximum of $21 million.
Additionally, in an earlier contract modification, the Army accepted
responsibility for $3.6 million of the potential tax, bringing its total
potential responsibility up to $24.6 million.



34

10.  Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Under the settlement, the Army agreed that if the cargo trucks are
determined to be taxable, the 1993 decision of the Armed Services
Board of Contract Appeals (which ruled that the Company is entitled
to a price adjustment to the contract for reimbursement of FET paid
on vehicles that were to be delivered after October 1, 1988) will apply
to the question of the Company’s right to reimbursement from the
Army for after-imposed taxes on the cargo trucks. In the Company’s
view, application of the 1993 decision will favorably resolve the prin-
cipal issues regarding any such future claim by the Company.
Therefore, the Company believes that even if the cargo trucks are
ultimately held to be taxable, the Army would be obligated to reim-
burse the Company for a majority of the tax, (but not interest or
penalty, if any), resulting in a net maximum liability for the Company
of $5.8 million plus penalties and applicable interest currently esti-
mated to be $9.3 million and $45.5 million, respectively. The
Company believes it is unlikely that resolution of this matter will have
a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, howev-
er, it could have a material effect on quarterly or annual results of
operations.

Other Defense Business Litigation
In 1992, the U.S. Government filed a counterclaim against the
Company in a civil suit alleging violations of the False Claims Act and
breach of a contract to supply M109A2 Self-Propelled Howitzers. In
May 1999, the Company and the U.S. Government settled. Under the
settlement agreement, Harsco paid the U.S. Government $11 million
and both parties released all claims in the case. The settlement payment
was charged against an existing reserve in the second quarter of 1999.

In 1992, the United States Government through its Defense Contract
Audit Agency commenced an audit of certain contracts for sale of
tracked vehicles by the Company to foreign governments, which were
financed by the United States Government through the Defense
Security Assistance Agency. In September 1994, the Company received
a subpoena issued by the Department of Defense Inspector General
seeking various documents relating to issues raised in the audit. 

The Government subsequently subpoenaed a number of former
employees of the Company’s divested defense business to testify
before a grand jury and issued grand jury subpoenas to the Company
for additional documents. On December 22, 1999, the Company
announced that it reached agreement with the U.S. Government on
behalf of its former BMY Combat Systems Division to settle the mat-
ter. Under the agreement, BMY Combat Systems pled guilty to a one-
count misdemeanor relating to submitting advance payment certifica-
tions which resulted in BMY receiving a portion of the payments for
the contract prematurely. Harsco will pay the Government a $200,000
fine plus $10.8 million in damages for a total of $11 million.

The settlement, which is subject to acceptance by the U.S. District
Court, ends the Government’s investigation and releases Harsco and
BMY from further liability for the issues under investigation. Harsco
will charge the payment against an existing reserve, resulting in no
charge to the Company’s earnings. Based on the terms of the settle-
ment, the Company expects to pay the $11 million in the second quar-
ter of 2000, following the Court’s entry of judgment.

Continuing Operations – Contingencies

Environmental
The Company is involved in a number of environmental remediation
investigations and clean-ups and, along with other companies, has
been identified as a “potentially responsible party” for certain waste
disposal sites. While each of these matters is subject to various uncer-
tainties, it is probable that the Company will agree to make payments
toward funding certain of these activities and it is possible that some
of these matters will be decided unfavorably to the Company. The
Company has evaluated its potential liability, and its financial expo-
sure is dependent upon such factors as the continuing evolution of
environmental laws and regulatory requirements, the availability and
application of technology, the allocation of cost among potentially
responsible parties, the years of remedial activity required and the
remediation methods selected. The Consolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31, 1999, and 1998 includes an accrual of $3.0 million and
$4.9 million, respectively, for environmental matters. The amounts
affecting pre-tax earnings related to environmental matters totaled
$0.7 million of income for the year 1999, $0.8 million of expense for the
year 1998 and $1.7 million of expense for the year 1997.

The liability for future remediation costs is evaluated on a quarterly
basis. Actual costs to be incurred at identified sites in future periods
may vary from the estimates, given inherent uncertainties in evaluat-
ing environmental exposures. The Company does not expect that any
sum it may have to pay in connection with environmental matters in
excess of the amounts recorded or disclosed above would have a mate-
rial adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations.

Other
The Company is subject to various other claims, legal proceedings,
and investigations covering a wide range of matters that arose in the
ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, all such
matters are adequately covered by insurance or by accruals, and if
not so covered, are without merit or are of such kind, or involve such
amounts, that would not have a material adverse effect on the finan-
cial position or results of operations of the Company.

11. Capital Stock
The authorized capital stock consists of 150,000,000 shares of common
stock and 4,000,000 shares of preferred stock, both having a par value
of $1.25 per share. The preferred stock is issuable in series with terms
as fixed by the Board of Directors. None of the preferred stock has
been issued. On June 24, 1997, the Company adopted a revised
Shareholder Rights Plan to replace the Company’s 1987 Plan which
expired on September 28, 1997. Under the new Plan, the Board
declared a dividend to shareholders of record on September 28, 1997,
of one right for each share of common stock. The rights may only be
exercised if, among other things, a person or group has acquired 15%
or more, or intends to commence a tender offer for 20% or more, of
the Company’s common stock. Each right entitles the holder to pur-
chase 1/100th share of a new Harsco Junior Participating Cumulative
Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $150. Once the rights become
exercisable, if any person acquires 20% or more of the Company’s
common stock, the holder of a right will be entitled to receive common
stock calculated to have a value of two times the exercise price of the
right. The rights, which expire on September 28, 2007, do not have
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11. Capital Stock (continued)

voting power, and may be redeemed by the Company at a price of $.05
per right at any time until the 10th business day following public
announcement that a person or group has accumulated 15% or more
of the Company’s common stock. At December 31, 1999, 750,000
shares of $1.25 par value preferred stock were reserved for issuance
upon exercise of the rights.

In November 1998, the Board of Directors authorized the purchase,
over a one-year period, of 2,000,000 shares of the Company’s com-
mon stock. The Company purchased 877,500 shares of this authoriza-
tion in 1998. The Board of Directors subsequently increased the
authorization by 2,000,000 shares in January 1999. Through
December 31, 1999, 3,143,646 shares of common stock were pur-
chased under these authorizations. This leaves 856,354 shares
remaining under the authorization. In January 2000, the Board of
Directors extended the share purchase authorization through
January 25, 2001. 

In 1999, additional share repurchases of 58,155, net of issues, were
made principally as part of the 1995 Executive Compensation Plan.

Common Stock Summary

Shares Treasury Shares
Balances Issued Shares Outstanding

December 31, 1996 65,458,202 15,855,850 49,602,352
December 31, 1997 65,854,087 18,877,957 46,976,130
December 31, 1998 66,075,380 23,825,458 42,249,922
December 31, 1999 66,221,544 26,149,759 40,071,785

The following is a reconciliation of the average shares of common
stock used to compute basic earnings per common share to the shares
used to compute diluted earnings per common share as shown on the
Consolidated Statement of Income:

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 1999 1998 1997

Income from continuing 
operations $90,713 $107,513 $100,400

Average shares of common 
stock outstanding used to
compute basic earnings 
per common share 40,882,153 45,568,256 48,754,212

Additional common shares 
to be issued assuming 
exercise of stock options, 
net of shares assumed 
reacquired 134,914 342,275 437,660

Shares used to compute 
dilutive effect of stock 
options 41,017,067 45,910,531 49,191,872

Basic earnings per 
common share from 
continuing operations $2.22 $2.36 $2.06

Diluted earnings per 
common share from 
continuing operations $2.21 $2.34 $2.04

12. Stock-Based Compensation
The Company’s net income and net income per common share would
have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below if com-
pensation cost for the Company’s stock option plan had been deter-
mined based on the fair value at the grant date for awards in accor-
dance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123.

(In thousands, except per share data) 1999 1998 1997

Net income:
As reported $90,713 $107,513 $278,832
Pro forma 89,113 105,736 277,101

Basic earnings per share:
As reported 2.22 2.36 5.72
Pro forma 2.18 2.32 5.68

Diluted earnings per share:
As reported 2.21 2.34 5.67
Pro forma 2.17 2.30 5.63

The fair value of the options granted during 1999, 1998, and 1997 is
estimated on the date of grant using the binomial option pricing
model. The weighted-average assumptions used and the estimated fair
value are as follows:

1999 1998 1997

Expected term 4 years 4 years 4 years
Expected stock volatility 25.0% 16.0% 16.0%
Risk free interest rate 4.65% 5.65% 6.46%
Dividend $ .91 $ .88 $ .80
Rate of dividend increase 5% 5% 5%
Fair value $5.18 $6.68 $6.55

The Company has granted stock options to officers, certain key
employees, and directors for the purchase of its common stock under
two shareholder approved plans. The 1995 Executive Incentive
Compensation Plan authorizes the issuance of up to 4,000,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock for use in paying incentive compen-
sation awards in the form of restricted stock and stock options. The
1995 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Plan authorizes the issuance of
up to 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for stock option
awards. Options are granted at fair market value at date of grant and
become exercisable commencing one year later. The options expire ten
years from the date of grant. Upon shareholder approval of these two
plans in 1995, the Company terminated the use of the 1986 stock
option plan for granting of stock option awards. At December 31,
1999, there were 2,729,158 and 220,000 shares available for granting
stock options under the 1995 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan
and the 1995 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Plan, respectively.
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12. Stock-Based Compensation (continued)

Changes during 1999, 1998, and 1997 in options outstanding were: 

Shares Under Weighted Average
Option Exercise Price

Outstanding, January 1, 1997 1,202,026 $22.24
Granted 294,600 34.41
Exercised (395,885) 20.81
Terminated and expired (15,280) 22.90

Outstanding, December 31, 1997 1,085,461 26.06
Granted 275,100 38.30
Exercised (221,293) 24.93
Terminated and expired (16,500) 35.73

Outstanding, December 31, 1998 1,122,768 29.14
Granted 428,400 26.92
Exercised (146,164) 19.06
Terminated and expired (68,400) 31.36

Outstanding, December 31, 1999 1,336,604 $28.97

Options to purchase 932,704 shares, 857,168 shares and 793,061
shares were exercisable at December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997,
respectively. The following table summarizes information concerning
outstanding and exercisable options at December 31, 1999.

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Remaining Weighted Weighted
Range of Contractual Average Average

Exercisable Number Life Exercise Number Exercise
Prices Outstanding In Years Price Exercisable Price

$11.81 - $17.63 34,778 1.8 $15.39 34,778 $15.39
20.69 - 29.47 793,726 7.0 25.61 407,826 24.62
32.81 - 46.16 508,100 7.6 36.31 490,100 36.44

1,336,604 932,704

During 1999, 1998, and 1997, the Company had non-cash transac-
tions related to stock option exercises of $0.5 million, $1.6 million,
and $2.3 million, respectively, whereby old shares were exchanged for
new shares.

As of January 1, 1999, the restricted stock portion of the 1995
Executive Incentive Compensation Plan was discontinued.

The following table summarizes the restricted stock activity for 1998
and 1997:

1998 1997

Restricted shares awarded 40,702 57,622
Restricted shares forfeited 378 135
Weighted average market value of stock 

on grant date $43.22 $36.69

During 1998 and 1997, the Company recorded $.1 million and $1.9
million respectively, in compensation expense related to restricted
stock.

13. Financial Instruments
Off-Balance Sheet Risk

As collateral for performance and to ceding insurers, the Company is
contingently liable under standby letters of credit and bonds in the
amount of $165.9 million and $38.7 million at December 31, 1999 and
1998, respectively. These standby letters of credit and bonds are gen-
erally in force for up to four years. Certain issues have no scheduled
expiration date. The Company pays fees to various banks and insur-
ance companies that range from 0.08 to 1.9 percent per annum of
their face value. If the Company were required to obtain replacement
standby letters of credit and bonds as of December 31, 1999 for those
currently outstanding, it is the Company’s opinion that the replacement
costs would not vary significantly from the present fee structure.

At December 31, 1999 and 1998, the Company had $19.2 million and
$18.3 million, respectively, of forward foreign currency exchange con-
tracts outstanding. These contracts are part of a worldwide program
to minimize foreign currency exchange operating income and balance
sheet exposure. The unsecured contracts mature within 12 months
and are with major financial institutions. The Company is exposed to
credit loss in the event of non-performance by the other parties to the
contracts. The Company evaluates the credit worthiness of the coun-
terparties’ financial condition and does not expect default by the
counterparties.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The Company generally has currency exposures in thirty-two
countries. The Company’s primary foreign currency exposures are 
in the United Kingdom, France, Canada, South Africa, Brazil,
Germany, Australia, and Mexico.

Forward foreign currency exchange contracts are used to hedge com-
mitments, such as foreign currency debt, firm purchase commitments,
and foreign currency cash flows for certain export sales transactions. 

The following tables summarize by major currency the contractual
amounts of the Company’s forward exchange contracts in U.S. dollars
as of December 31, 1999 and 1998. The “Buy” amounts represent the
U.S. dollar equivalent of commitments to purchase foreign currencies,
and the “Sell” amounts represent the U.S. dollar equivalent of com-
mitments to sell foreign currencies.

(In thousands) As of December 31, 1999

U.S. Dollar Recognized Unrealized

Type Equivalent Maturity Gain (Loss) Gain (Loss)

Forward exchange 
contracts:

Euros Buy $17,339 January 18, 2000 $ (661) $ —
British pounds Buy 1,506 Various in 2000 79 —
French francs Buy 229 Various in 2000 — (13)
British pounds Buy 93 Various in 2000 — (2)

$19,167 $ (582) $(15)
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Long-term debt
The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is estimated based on
the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues or on the cur-
rent rates offered to the Company for debt of the same remaining
maturities.

Foreign currency exchange contracts
The fair value of foreign currency exchange contracts are estimated
by obtaining quotes from brokers.

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s
financial instruments as of December 31, 1999 and 1998 are:

(In thousands) 1999 1998

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

Cash and cash 
equivalents $ 51,266 $ 51,266 $ 41,562 $ 41,562

Long-term debt 423,097 416,925 316,972 317,530
Foreign currency 

exchange contracts 19,167 18,571 18,269 18,336

14. Information by Segment and Geographic Area
The Company reports information about its operating segments
according to the “management approach”. The management
approach is based on the way management organizes the segments
within the enterprise for making operating decisions and assessing
performance. 

The Company’s reportable segments are identified based upon differ-
ences in products, services, and markets served. The Company’s
business units are aggregated into three reportable segments. The
three reportable segments and the type of products and services
offered include:

Harsco Mill Services

This segment provides metal reclamation and other mill services,
principally for the global steel industry. Mill services include slag
processing, marketing, and disposal; slab management systems;
materials handling and scrap management programs; in-plant trans-
portation; and a variety of environmental services. Similar services are
provided to non-ferrous metallurgical industries, such as aluminum,
nickel, and copper. Also, slag recovery services are provided to
electric utilities from which granules for asphalt roofing shingles and
slag abrasives for industrial surface preparation are derived.

Harsco Gas and Fluid Control

Major products and services are gas containment cylinders and tanks,
including cryogenic equipment; valves, regulators, and gauges,
including scuba and life support equipment; industrial pipe fittings;
and air-cooled heat exchangers.

Major customers include various industrial markets; hardware,
plumbing, and petrochemical sectors; natural gas and process indus-
tries; propane, compressed gas, life support, scuba, and refrigerant
gas industries; gas equipment companies; welding distributors; med-
ical laboratories; beverage carbonation users; and the animal hus-
bandry industry.

13. Financial Instruments (continued)

At December 31, 1999, the Company had entered into forward
exchange contracts in euros and British pounds, which were used to
hedge certain future payments between the Company and its various
subsidiaries. These forward contracts do not qualify as hedges for
financial reporting purposes. At December 31, 1999, the Company
had recorded net losses of $0.6 million on these contracts. These loss-
es were generally offset by gains on the hedged items. In January
2000, the euro contract was extended to March 18, 2000. The
Company also had forward exchange contracts in French francs and
British pounds, which were used to hedge equipment purchases. Since
these contracts hedge identifiable foreign currency firm commitments,
the losses were deferred and will be accounted for as part of the
underlying transactions.

(In thousands) As of December 31, 1998

U.S. Dollar Recognized Unrealized

Type Equivalent Maturity Gain (Loss) Gain (Loss)

Forward exchange
contracts:

Belgian francs Sell $ 806 Various in 1999 $ 9 —
British pounds Sell 1,466 Various in 1999 12 —
French francs Sell 15,798 Various in 1999 46 —
Norwegian kronor Sell 199 Various in 1999 2 —

$18,269 $69 —

At December 31, 1998, the Company had entered into forward
exchange contracts in Belgian francs, British pounds, French francs,
and Norwegian kronor, which were used to hedge certain future
payments between the Company and its various subsidiaries. These
forward contracts did not qualify as hedges for financial reporting
purposes. At December 31, 1998, the Company had recorded net
gains of $0.1 million on these contracts.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to con-
centrations of credit risk, consist principally of cash and cash equiva-
lents, investments, and accounts receivable. The Company places its
cash and cash equivalents with high quality financial institutions and,
by policy, limits the amount of credit exposure to any one institution.
Concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable are
limited due to the Company’s large number of customers and their
dispersion across different industries and geographies. The Company
generally does not require collateral or other security to support cus-
tomer receivables.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair val-
ues of financial instruments are:

Cash and cash equivalents
The carrying amount approximates fair value due to the relatively
short period to maturity of these instruments.
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Segment Information (1)(2)

Segments Net Sales to Unaffiliated Customers Income from Continuing Operations

(In millions) 1999 1998 1997 1999 1998 1997

Harsco Mill Services (3)(4) $ 729.6 $ 751.9 $ 672.7 $45.1 $ 43.3 $ 50.3
Harsco Gas and Fluid Control 560.9 588.7 558.3 27.0 40.9 29.5
Harsco Infrastructure (5) 426.2 392.9 396.5 22.5 18.6 15.5

Segment totals $1,716.7 $1,733.5 $1,627.5 94.6 102.8 95.3

General corporate income (expense) (3.9) 4.7 5.1

Income from continuing operations $90.7 $107.5 $100.4

Segments Assets Depreciation and Amortization Capital Expenditures

(In millions) 1999 1998 1997 1999 1998 1997 1999 1998 1997

Harsco Mill Services (4) $ 934.6 $ 922.7 $ 715.3 $ 99.5 $ 98.2 $ 87.2 $134.9 $102.7 $ 94.8
Harsco Gas and Fluid Control 347.9 380.9 249.3 18.1 16.1 11.4 21.4 30.6 19.8
Harsco Infrastructure (5) 325.7 241.1 222.6 17.0 15.9 16.7 17.9 26.1 27.3

Segment totals 1,608.2 1,544.7 1,187.2 134.6 130.2 115.3 174.2 159.4 141.9
Corporate 51.6 78.9 290.0 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.0 .4 1.5

Total $1,659.8 $1,623.6 $1,477.2 $135.9 $131.4 $116.5 $175.2 $159.8 $143.4

(1) The 1997 segment information has been restated in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board SFAS No. 131, “Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information.”

(2) Segment information reflects the first quarter 1999 reorganization of the Patterson-Kelley division. Segment information for 1998 and 1997 has been restated to reflect this
change. The reorganization resulted in the realignment of the heat transfer and industrial blending equipment product lines from the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment to
the Harsco Infrastructure Segment. Sales of these product lines were $26.9 million, $29.2 million, and $28.2 million for the years 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively.

(3) For the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997 the Harsco Mill Services Segment included equity in income of unconsolidated entities of $3.0 million, $1.4 million, and
$1.0 million, respectively.

(4) A non-cash amount of $26.6 million of loan notes was issued for the Faber Prest acquisition related to the Harsco Mill Services Segment in 1998.

(5) The Pandrol Jackson railway maintenance-of-way business was acquired in October 1999 and is included as part of the Harsco Infrastructure Segment. Pandrol Jackson sales
were $12.4 million in 1999, and assets were $69.2 million as of December 31, 1999.

14. Information by Segment and Geographic Area (continued)

Harsco Infrastructure

Major products and services include railway maintenance-of-way
equipment and services; scaffolding, shoring, and concrete forming
products and erection and dismantling services; bridge decking and
industrial grating; process equipment, including industrial blenders,
dryers, mixers, water heaters, boilers, and heat transfer equipment.

Products and services are provided to private and government-owned
railroads worldwide; urban mass transit operators; public utilities;
industrial plants; the oil, chemical, petrochemical, and process indus-
tries; bridge repair companies; commercial and industrial construc-
tion firms; and infrastructure repair and maintenance markets.
Other customers include the chemical, food processing, and pharma-
ceutical industries; and institutional building and retrofit markets.

Other Information

The measurement basis of segment profit or loss is income after taxes
from continuing operations. Interest income is recorded by each seg-

ment as incurred. Interest expense is allocated to the segments based
on actual interest expense incurred by international operations and
based on internal borrowings at an estimated weighted average inter-
est rate for domestic operations. Income taxes are allocated to the seg-
ments based on actual income tax expense incurred, or where aggre-
gated for tax purposes, based on the effective income tax rates for the
countries in which they operate. The operations of the Company in
any one country, except the United States, do not account for more
than 10% of sales and no single customer represented 10% or more of
the Company’s sales, during 1999, 1998, and 1997. There are no sig-
nificant intersegment sales. 

Corporate assets include principally cash, investments, prepaid pen-
sion costs, and United States deferred taxes. Assets in the United
Kingdom represent 12% of total segment assets as of December 31,
1999 and 1998 and are disclosed separately in the geographic area
information.
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14. Information by Segment and Geographic Area (continued)

Reconciliation of Reported Income Before Interest, Income Taxes, and Minority Interest to Segment Income

Harsco Harsco Harsco General Consolidated
(In millions) Mill Services Gas and Fluid Control Infrastructure Corporate Total

1999 (1)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before
interest, income taxes, and minority interest $ 81.2 $ 47.5 $ 41.2 $(0.2) $169.7

Interest income 4.3 0.1 0.2 0.1 4.7
Interest expense (10.8) (4.8) (6.3) (5.1) (27.0)
Income tax (expense) benefit (24.4) (15.9) (12.6) 1.3 (51.6)
Minority interest in net (income) loss (5.2) 0.1 — — (5.1)

Segment income (loss) from continuing operations $ 45.1 $ 27.0 $ 22.5 $(3.9) $ 90.7

1998 (2)

Income from continuing operations before 
interest, income taxes, and minority interest $ 84.3 $ 72.3 $ 32.9 $ 2.4 $191.9

Interest income 4.8 0.2 0.4 3.0 8.4
Interest expense (11.0) (4.1) (5.4) — (20.5)
Income tax expense (29.9) (27.5) (9.3) (0.7) (67.4)
Minority interest in net income (4.9) — — — (4.9)

Segment income from continuing operations $ 43.3 $ 40.9 $ 18.6 $ 4.7 $107.5

1997 (3)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before 
interest, income taxes, and minority interest $ 99.1 $ 51.3 $ 29.7 $(0.2) $179.9

Interest income 2.0 0.1 0.2 6.1 8.4
Interest expense (6.6) (3.1) (5.9) (1.1) (16.7)
Income tax (expense) benefit (38.5) (18.5) (8.5) 0.3 (65.2)
Minority interest in net income (5.7) (0.3) — — (6.0)

Segment income from continuing operations $ 50.3 $ 29.5 $ 15.5 $ 5.1 $100.4

(1) For 1999, segment income includes pre-tax special charges of $3.4 million and $2.5 million for the Harsco Mill Services Segment and Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment,
respectively.

(2) For 1998, segment income includes pre-tax special charges (gains) of $15.6 million, ($18.2) million, and $4.8 million for the Harsco Mill Services Segment, Harsco Gas and Fluid
Control Segment and the Harsco Infrastructure Segment, respectively.

(3) For 1997, segment income includes pre-tax special charges (gains) of $0.4 million, $1.8 million, and $(0.3) million for the Harsco Mill Services Segment, Harsco Gas and Fluid
Control Segment and the Harsco Infrastructure Segment, respectively.

See Note 15 for further information on special charges and gains. 

Information by Geographic Area (4)

Geographic Area Net Sales to Unaffiliated Customers Segment Assets

(In millions) 1999 1998 1997 1999 1998 1997

United States $1,095.3 $1,085.6 $1,044.8 $ 797.1 $ 721.2 $ 569.4
United Kingdom 155.5 126.4 61.1 186.2 180.7 51.4
All Other 465.9 521.5 521.6 624.9 642.8 566.4

Segment Totals $1,716.7 $1,733.5 $1,627.5 $1,608.2 $1,544.7 $1,187.2

(4) Revenues are attributed to individual countries based on the location of the facility generating the revenue.
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15. Other (Income) and Expenses and Special Charges 
and (Gains)

In the years 1999, 1998, and 1997, the Company recorded Other
(income) and expenses of $6.0 million, $(4.3) million, and $2.6 mil-
lion, respectively:

Other (Income) and Expenses
(In thousands) 1999 1998 1997

Net gains $ (560) $(29,107) $(1,620)
Impaired asset write-downs 2,878 14,410 1,592
Employee termination 

benefit costs 2,889 6,543 (810)
Costs to exit activities 502 2,792 3,313
Other 310 1,098 103

Total $6,019 $ (4,264) $ 2,578

Additionally, in 1998 the Company recorded $6.5 million of other spe-
cial charges, of which $2.2 million is included in cost of products sold,
$3.5 million in cost of services sold, and $.8 million in general and
administrative expenses. For 1998, this resulted in net special charges
of $2.2 million which includes Other (income) and expenses. The 1998
amounts were incurred principally in the fourth quarter in which
results included $29.6 million of gains and other credits offset by
$29.5 million of special charges. Other (income) and expenses and
special charges and gains consist principally of gains on the sale of
businesses, impaired asset write-downs, employee termination benefit
costs, costs to exit activities, and other reorganization-related costs.
Pre-tax amounts by operating segment include:

Special Charges and (Gains)
(In thousands) 1999 1998 1997

Harsco Mill Services $3,350 $ 15,618 $ 441
Harsco Gas and Fluid Control 2,452 (18,232) 1,766
Harsco Infrastructure (10) 4,826 (348)
Corporate 227 (11) 719

Total $6,019 $ 2,201 $2,578

Net Gains 

Net gains for 1998 consist principally of a pre-tax net gain of $27 mil-
lion recorded on the October 1998 sale of the Nutter Engineering unit
of the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment. Such gains are reflect-
ed as adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
Total proceeds associated with 1998 special gains were $42.9 million
and are included in proceeds from the sale of businesses and proper-
ty, plant and equipment in the investing activities section of the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Other related information
concerning dispositions is discussed in Note 3.

Impaired Asset Write-downs

Impaired asset write-downs for 1999 include a $1.9 million pre-tax,
non-cash, write-down of the Company’s investment in Bio-Oxidation
Services Inc. which is included in the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control
Segment. The Company’s investment in Bio-Oxidation Services Inc. is
being held for disposal. The write-down amount was measured on the
basis of the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

Fair value was determined using available information based upon
the estimated amount at which the assets could be sold in a current
transaction between willing parties. The investment carrying value as
of December 31, 1999 was $6.6 million. For the year ended December
31, 1999, Bio-Oxidation Services Inc. recorded a pre-tax loss of 
$2.3 million which includes the asset write-down of $1.9 million. The
Company estimates that the disposal will occur during 2000.

Impaired asset write-downs for 1998 include a $6.1 million pre-tax,
non-cash, write-down of the Company’s investment in Bio-Oxidation
Services Inc. The investment carrying value as of December 31, 1998
was $7.6 million. For the year ended December 31, 1998 Bio-
Oxidation Services Inc. recorded a pre-tax loss of $9.8 million which
includes the asset write-down of $6.1 million.

Impaired asset write-downs for 1998 also include a $6.1 million pre-
tax, non-cash, write-down of assets, principally property, plant and
equipment in the Harsco Mill Services Segment. The write-down
became necessary as a result of significant adverse changes in the
international economic environment and the steel industry.
Impairment loss was measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of assets exceeded their estimated fair value. Fair value was
estimated based upon the expected future realizable net cash flows. In
September 1999, assets associated with a substantial portion of this
provision were sold in conjunction with the termination settlement of
a contract in Russia. 

Non-cash impaired asset write-downs are included in Other (income)
and expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as adjust-
ments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities. 

Employee Termination Benefit Costs

Employee termination benefit costs consist principally of severance
arrangements to employees terminated as a result of management
reorganization actions. Under these reorganization actions, the
Company’s management has established and approved specific plans
of termination. Details of the termination benefit plans have been
communicated to the affected employees prior to recognition of relat-
ed provisions. Non-cash charges for employee termination benefit
costs are included as adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows. 

During 1999, $2.9 million of reorganization expense related to
employee termination benefits was incurred, principally in the Harsco
Mill Services Segment, primarily in France and the United Kingdom.
In 1999, 220 employees were included in employee termination
arrangements initiated by the Company and approximately $1.8
million of cash payments were made under such arrangements. The
payments are reflected as uses of operating cash in the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows.

During 1998, $6.5 million of reorganization expense related to
employee termination benefits was incurred, principally in the Harsco
Mill Services Segment, primarily in South Africa, United States,
France, and Germany. In 1998, approximately 670 employees were
included in employee termination arrangements initiated by the 
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15. Other (Income) and Expenses and Special Charges and (Gains) (continued)

Company and approximately $2.4 million of cash payments were
made under such arrangements. An additional $3.3 million was dis-
bursed in 1999 for the 1998 reorganization actions.

Employee Termination Benefit Costs and Payments

(In millions) Summary of Activity 

Original reorganization action period 1999 1998

Employee termination benefits expense $ 2.9 $ 6.5

Payments:
Disbursed in 1998 — (2.4)
Disbursed in 1999 (1) (1.8) (3.3)

Total payments (1.8) (5.7)
Other — (0.4)

Remaining payments as of
December 31, 1999 (2) $ 1.1 $ 0.4

(1) Disbursements in 1999 are categorized according to the original reorganization
action period to which they relate (1999 or 1998). Cash severance payments in 1999
occurred principally in the Harsco Mill Services Segment in South Africa principally
for 1998 reorganization actions.

(2) Remaining payments are categorized according to the original reorganization action
period to which they relate (1999 or 1998).

Employee Terminations – Number of Employees

Summary of Activity 

Original reorganization action period 1999 1998

Employees affected by new reorganization actions 220 670

Employee terminations:
Terminated in 1998 — (349)
Terminated in 1999 (172) (352)

Total terminations (172) (701)
Other (9) 35

Remaining terminations as of
December 31, 1999 39 4

Costs to Exit Activities

Costs to exit activities consist of incremental direct costs of reorgani-
zation actions and lease run-out costs. Such costs are recorded when
a specific exit plan is approved by management. Relocation expenses,
such as employee moving costs, are classified as exit costs and are
expensed as incurred. Other costs classified in this category are gener-
ally expensed as incurred.

During 1998, $1.0 million and $0.8 million of exit costs, principally
relocation expenses, were included in the Harsco Mill Services and
Harsco Infrastructure Segments, respectively.

During 1997, $1.5 million of exit costs were included in the Harsco
Mill Services Segment. These costs resulted principally from the expi-
ration or termination of contracts at certain mill sites, as well as facili-
ty relocation costs.
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Two-Year Summary of Quarterly Results
(Unaudited)

(In millions, except per share amounts)
Quarterly First Second Third Fourth

1999
Net sales $404.6 $430.7 $423.9 $457.5
Gross profit (1) 82.8 94.7 93.7 102.2
Net income 14.8 23.8 26.1 26.0
Diluted earnings per share .35 .58 .64 .65

(In millions, except per share amounts)
Quarterly First Second Third Fourth (2)

1998
Net sales $401.0 $456.3 $445.7 $430.5
Gross profit (1) 93.3 110.2 99.9 100.0
Net income 24.3 33.1 25.9 24.2
Diluted earnings per share .52 .71 .56 .55

(1) Gross profit is defined as Net sales less Cost of sales, Other (income) and expenses, and Research and development expenses.

(2) The fourth quarter of 1998 included $29.6 million of special gains offset by $29.5 million of special charges. The gains included a pre-tax net gain of $27 million recorded on the
sale of the Nutter Engineering unit of the Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Segment. The special charges included impaired asset write-downs, employee termination benefit costs,
costs to exit activities and other reorganization-related expenses. Other information concerning special charges and (gains) is discussed in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis and Note 15.

Common Stock Price and Dividend Information
Dividends 

Market Price Per Share Declared

High Low Per Share

1999
First Quarter $33 $25 $ .225
Second Quarter 343/8 231/16 .225
Third Quarter 325/16 253/8 .225
Fourth Quarter 317/8 26 .235

1998
First Quarter $461/8 $371/2 $ .22
Second Quarter 47 415/16 .22
Third Quarter 471/4 23 .22
Fourth Quarter 35 28 .225
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Directors and Officers 

Board of Directors

Derek C. Hathaway, 55  1 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Chairman, Executive Committee 
Director since 1991

Leonard A. Campanaro, 51
President and Chief Operating Officer
Director since 1998

Jerry J. Jasinowski, 61 3,4

President, National Association of Manufacturers
(business advocacy and policy association)
Director since 1999

Robert F. Nation, 73  1,2 

Retired President, Penn Harris Company
(private investment company)
Chairman, Management Development and Compensation Committee
Director since 1983

Carolyn F. Scanlan, 52  2,3

President and Chief Executive Officer
The Health Alliance of Pennsylvania
(representation and advocacy organization)
Director since 1998

James I. Scheiner, 55  1,3

President and Chief Operating Officer
Benatec Associates, Inc.
(architectural and engineering consulting company)
Chairman, Audit Committee 
Director since 1995

Andrew J. Sordoni, III, 56  2,4 

Chairman, Sordoni Construction Services, Inc.
(building construction and management services company)
Director since 1988

Joseph P. Viviano, 61 3

Vice Chairman, Hershey Foods Corporation
(confectionery and grocery products company)
Director since 1999

Dr. Robert C. Wilburn, 56  1,2,4

Co-Founder and Chief Operating Officer
Community Bank Partners
(Internet company serving the financial services industry)
Distinguished Service Professor
Carnegie Mellon University
Chairman, Nominating Committee 
Director since 1986

Board Committees

1 Executive 

2 Management Development & Compensation 

3 Audit 

4 Nominating

Corporate Officers

Derek C. Hathaway, 55
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
33 years of service

Leonard A. Campanaro, 51
President and Chief Operating Officer
19 years of service

Paul C. Coppock, 49
Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer, 

General Counsel and Secretary
18 years of service

Salvatore D. Fazzolari, 47
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 

and Treasurer
19 years of service

Ronald W. Kaplan, 48
Senior Vice President – Operations
20 years of service

Stephen J. Schnoor, 46
Vice President and Controller
11 years of service

Warren A. Weisel, 47
Vice President – Taxes
16 years of service
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Stockholder Information

Corporate Headquarters 
Harsco Corporation 
350 Poplar Church Road
PO Box 8888
Camp Hill, PA 17001-8888
Telephone: (717) 763-7064
Fax: (717) 763-6424
E-mail: info@harsco.com
Online: www.harsco.com

Stock Listings 
Ticker symbol: HSC
Stock exchanges: New York, Pacific, Boston, Philadelphia
Common stock trading range in 1999: 231/16 to 343/8

Investor Relations Contact 
Eugene M. Truett 
Director – Investor Relations
Telephone: 717-975-5677 
Fax: 717-763-6424 
E-mail: etruett@harsco.com

Communications to Stockholders 
Notice of the Annual Meeting, the Proxy Statement and Proxy Form
are mailed with the Annual Report in March. Form 10-K, the annual
report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), is
available in March, while each Form 10-Q, the quarterly report filed
with the SEC, is available following the close of the first, second and
third quarters. Copies of the reports can be obtained free of charge
by accessing them on EDGAR via our World Wide Web site at
www.harsco.com.

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of stockholders will be held on April 25, 2000,
beginning at 10:00 a.m. at the Radisson Penn Harris Hotel &
Convention Center, 1150 Camp Hill Bypass, Camp Hill, PA. All
stockholders are invited to attend.

Registrar, Transfer and Dividend Disbursing Agent 
For assistance on stock transfers, address changes, dividend 
checks, lost certificates, consolidation of duplicate accounts, or
related matters, contact: 
ChaseMellon Shareholder Services, L.L.C. 
P.O. Box 3315
South Hackensack, New Jersey 07606
Telephone: 1-800-526-0801 
Online: www.chasemellon.com 

Dividends and the Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
In 1999, Harsco paid dividends at an annual rate of $.90. In
November 1999, the Board of Directors increased the dividend 
to an annual rate of $.94. Dividends, when declared, are paid
quarterly in February, May, August, and November.

Stockholders can choose from among three dividend payment plans.
They may receive their dividends through the mail, have them
deposited electronically into their checking or savings accounts, or
reinvest them through Harsco’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan. All
three options are offered free of charge. 

The Dividend Reinvestment Plan provides stockholders with a simple
and convenient way to increase their investment in Harsco without
paying brokerage or service fees. In addition to the automatic rein-
vestment of dividends, the Plan allows for additional cash investments
as often as once a month. The minimum cash investment is $10.00 per
month; there are no limitations on the maximum amount. 

For further information, contact ChaseMellon Shareholder Services. 

Additional Information 
To learn more about Harsco Corporation or to obtain our latest 
news releases, visit our World Wide Web site at www.harsco.com. 
News releases are also available at any time by fax by calling 
1-800-758-5804, extension 396725. To request copies of Harsco
financial mailings, call the Harsco Financial Mailings Request Line 
at 717-612-5656. Media and general public inquiries should contact
our Communications office at the Corporate Headquarters.
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Headquarters Locations

Harsco Mill Services Group

Heckett MultiServ 
Eastern Region
Commonwealth House
2 Chalkhill Road
London, England W6 8DW
Telephone: +44-171-314-1400
Fax: +44-171-314-1499
E-mail: london@heckettmultiserv.com
Online: www.heckettmultiserv.com 

Geoffrey D. H. Butler, 53
President

Heckett MultiServ 
Western Region
612 North Main Street
P.O. Box 1071
Butler, PA 16003-1071 
Telephone: (724) 283-5741
Fax: (724) 283-2410
E-mail: sales@hmwest.com
Online: www.heckettmultiserv.com

www.reedmin.com

K. F. Bruch III, 56
President

Harsco Infrastructure Group

Harsco Track Technologies
2401 Edmund Road
P.O. Box 20
Cayce-West Columbia, SC 29171-0020 
Telephone: (803) 822-9160
Fax: (803) 822-8107
E-mail: info@harscotrack.com
Online: www.harscotrack.com

G. Robert Newman, 53
President

Patent Construction Systems/
IKG Industries/ Patterson-Kelley
One Mack Centre Drive
Paramus, NJ 07652 
Telephone: (201) 261-5600
In the US: (800) 969-5600
Fax: (201) 261-5544
E-mail: sales@pcshd.com

sales@ikgindustries.com
Online: www.pcshd.com

www.ikgindustries.com
www.patkelco.com

James P. Mitchell, 63
President

Harsco Gas and Fluid Control Group

Group Headquarters
Street Address
4718 Old Gettysburg Road
Mechanicsburg, PA 17055 
Mailing Address
P.O. Box 8316
Camp Hill, PA 17001-8316 
Telephone: (717) 763-5060
Fax: (717) 763-5061
E-mail: pubrel@harsco.com
Online: www.taylorwharton.com

www.sherwoodvalve.com 
www.sherwoodscuba.com 
www.awtank.com
www.capitolcamco.com 
www.scicomposites.com
www.airx.com

Ronald W. Kaplan, 48
President
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Harsco Corporation

350 Poplar Church Road

PO Box 8888

Camp Hill, PA 17001-8888

717-763-7064 Telephone

717-763-6424 Fax

info@harsco.com E-mail

www.harsco.com Online


